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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG 
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the 
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that 
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for 
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information 
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their 
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and 
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein 
or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), we are pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2021.

Revenue from the footwear and apparel businesses segment decreased significantly by 90.4% from approximately 
HK$57.8 million for 2020 to approximately HK$5.6 million for 2021. The footwear and apparel businesses segment 
recorded loss of approximately HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This was due to the decrease 
in sales to PRC customers amid various uncertainties clouding the global economy and the impact caused by 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Revenue from the loan facilitation and credit assessment segment decreased by 85.3% from approximately HK$25.5 
million for 2020 to approximately HK$3.8 million for 2021. Loan facilitation and credit assessment segment had 
recorded a loss of approximately HK$7.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The significant turndown 
was mainly due to the severe impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the loan facilitation and credit assessment 
business. The management implemented the administrative measures planned from 2020, closing branches and 
laying off staff to reduce costs, to restructure resource allocation and to review the business model suitable for the 
business in the current economic environment.

From the start of 2021, governments across the globe had been taking more proactive measures against the 
COVID-19 pandemic, providing stronger support for the global market to recover from the significant hit in 2020. In 
addition to more stringent measures on gatherings and social distancing, the research and development of vaccines 
against the virus had also picked up pace. Multiple vaccines had been approved for use by national bodies and large-
scale national vaccination campaigns had been launched. With more members of the public got vaccinated, social 
activities in many of the developed countries in North America and Europe became more frequent. Cross-border 
activities and many economic activities had hence started to recover. With the above factors, the management 
is optimistic about our premium sneaker and sportwear trading business in North America and on e-commerce 
platforms. The Board believes that the economic environment hit by COVID-19 is expected to recover gradually 
during the coming year, which will also stimulate consumer sentiment. It is expected to have a positive impact on the 
footwear and apparel businesses. 

Looking to the future, we are still confident we will continue to maintain and consolidate our position within the 
industry, and we will also allocate internal resources to actively seek for healthy development of our existing business 
on trading of footwear and apparel. We plan and have made corresponding preparations to explore in the following 
aspects:

1. Keep to expand the consignment business in North America steadily with a Vancouver based market place 
boutique;

2. Seek cooperation with the PRC and overseas footwear trade networks and explore the possibility of footwear 
trading through online platforms; and

3. Seek cooperation with more local enterprises to expand the retail business on footwear and apparels.

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD



MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD
 

05Jimu Group Limited | Annual Report 2021

Finally, we wish to extend our sincere appreciation to all of our staff for their tireless efforts, diligence and 
contribution during 2021 and express our utmost gratitude to all shareholders, investors, customers, suppliers and 
business partners for their continued and valuable support and trust to the Group.

On behalf of the Board
Wei Ju
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is engaged in the 
footwear and apparel businesses and the loan facilitation and credit assessment businesses.

Footwear and Apparel Businesses

The Group is engaged in the trading of footwear and apparel. The Group offers formal and casual footwear and 
apparel for men, women and children to its customers. Over the years of its operations since 2009, the Group 
has built a diverse global customer portfolio comprising mainly international wholesaler and retailers which are 
brand owners or licensees of formal and casual footwear. Also, the Group seized the opportunity for extending to 
apparel business in 2021 as we see the massive market potential for apparel business in overseas. The management 
believes that the footwear and apparel businesses are recovering and shall continue to seek further development 
opportunities in both overseas and the PRC market. Starting from 2021, the Group has been reorganising resources 
to invest in the footwear business, especially focusing on the development of premium and collector sneakers trading 
business and football jersey business in North America and Asia.

From the start of 2021, governments across the globe had been taking more proactive measures against the 
COVID-19 pandemic, providing stronger support for the global market to recover from the significant hit in 2020. In 
addition to more stringent measures on gatherings and social distancing, the research and development of vaccines 
against the virus had also picked up pace. Multiple vaccines had been approved for use by national bodies and large-
scale national vaccination campaigns had been launched. With more members of the public got vaccinated, social 
activities in many of the developed countries in North America and Europe became more frequent. Cross-border 
activities and many economic activities had hence started to recover. With the above factors, the management 
is optimistic about our premium sneaker and sportwear trading business in North America and on e-commerce 
platforms. The Board believes that the economic environment hit by COVID-19 pandemic is expected to recover 
gradually during the coming year, which will also stimulate consumer sentiment. It is expected to have a positive 
impact on the footwear and apparel businesses.

The footwear and apparel businesses segment recorded loss for the year ended 31 December 2021. The 
management believes that the footwear and apparel businesses are recovering and shall continue to seek further 
development opportunities in both overseas and the PRC market. After evaluating the development opportunities 
of footwear and apparel in overseas and the PRC, in late 2021, the Group had actively negotiated with various 
overseas sales networks, and had successfully established a supply channel with a Vancouver based market place 
boutique (the “Boutique”) to vigorously develop in 2022 footwear and apparel lay a solid foundation. In the first 
quarter of 2022, the Group had started the consignment sales business of premium and collector sneakers with the 
Boutique. At the same time, the Group has also expanded our trading business to football jersey in Hong Kong. By 
continuously diversifying our income sources in the trading business, the management hopes to bounce back from 
the performance during COVID-19 pandemic and bring stable and growing revenue to the Group in the long run.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Loan Facilitation and Credit Assessment Businesses

The Group commenced the provision of loan facilitation services to customers in the PRC in 2018.

The Group has set up branch office network across different regions in the PRC to provide assistance to customers 
with financing needs, with a particular focus on individual customers in 3rd and 4th tier cities in the PRC, who in 
general, compared to individuals in first tier cities, have weaker knowledge or access of financing solutions available 
in the market. The Group has built a credit rating system which gives customers an internal credit score, taking into 
account the customer’s financial condition, previous lending and repayment history and other behavior pattern. Our 
risk team periodically monitors and updates the algorithm to meet changing market conditions. Our branch network, 
together with our IT infrastructure, allows us to tap into these markets with relative ease. Our credit rating system 
helps to filter customers with relatively poor credit rating and allows us to focus on more credible customers. The on-
site credit team then performs site visits and other due diligence procedures to verify the authenticity of information. 
Based on these credit scores and due diligence materials, our credit assessment team will consider whether to make 
a loan recommendation to appropriate funding sources (which may include bank and non-bank institutions). Our 
branch offices liaise between customers and the funding sources and arrange for contract signing upon agreement 
by both parties.

There is a significant downturn in the loan facilitation business for the year ended 31 December 2021. The significant 
turndown was mainly due to the severe impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the loan facilitation and credit 
assessment business. The management implemented the administrative measures planned for 2020, closing branches 
and laying off staff to reduce costs, to restructure resource allocation and to review the business model suitable for 
the business in the current economic environment.

The management expects the impact of COVID-19 pandemic to persist in 2022 and the management anticipates a 
hard time ahead. The management had already closed the branches and layoff staffs to reduce operating costs.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$9.3 million in 2021, a decrease of 88.8% compared with that of 
approximately HK$83.3 million for 2020. Set out below is the revenue breakdown by segment for the years ended 
31 December 2020 and 2021:

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Trading of footwear and apparel
Footwear 2,693 28.9 50,152 60.2
Apparel 2,884 30.9 7,670 9.2

5,577 59.8 57,822 69.4

Provision of loan facilitation and  
credit assessment services
Pre-loan facilitation services 1,484 15.9 9,678 11.6
Post-loan facilitation services 1,550 16.6 11,773 14.1
Provision of credit assessment services 720 7.7 4,020 4.9

3,754 40.2 25,471 30.6

Total 9,331 100 83,293 100

Footwear and Apparel Businesses

Revenue from the footwear and apparel businesses segment decreased significantly by 90.4% from approximately 
HK$57.8 million for 2020 to approximately HK$5.6 million for 2021. This was mainly due to the decrease in sales 
to PRC customers amid various uncertainties clouding the global economy and the impact caused by COVID-19 
pandemic.

Loan Facilitation and Credit Assessment Businesses

Revenue from the loan facilitation and credit assessment segment decreased by 85.3% from approximately HK$25.5 
million for 2020 to approximately HK$3.8 million for 2021. The reason for the revenue dropped significantly was 
mainly due to the impact of caused by COVID-19 pandemic during the year.
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Cost of inventories sold

The Group’s cost of inventories sold decreased by approximately 87.7% from approximately HK$42.2 million for 
2020 to approximately HK$5.2 million for 2021. Purchase cost to sales ratio was approximately 93% for 2021 
comparing to approximately 73% for 2020 due to the purchase price is higher than last year.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately 80.4% from approximately HK$6.4 million for 2020 to approximately 
HK$1.3 million for 2021. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in business activities amid COVID-19 
pandemic for year ended 31 December 2021, thus, causing a decrease in consultancy income for the provision of 
consultancy services in related to loan facilitation business.

Other gains and losses

Other gains (net) decreased by approximately 83.2% from approximately HK$2.2 million for 2020 to as 
approximately HK$0.4 million for 2021. This was mainly due to the decrease in the gain on termination of certain 
right-of-use assets.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 15.2% to approximately HK$0.37 million for 2020 to approximately 
HK$0.42 million for 2021. Finance costs in 2021 represented interests on lease liabilities and interests on other 
borrowings.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses decreased by approximately 69.1% from approximately HK$43.2 million for 2020 to 
approximately HK$13.3 million for 2021, which was mainly due to cost-cutting and restructuring plan implemented 
during the year.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased by approximately 46.2% from approximately HK$17.3 million for 2020 to 
approximately HK$9.3 million for 2021, which was mainly a result of the implementation of certain cost-cutting 
measures during the year.

Income tax credit

Income tax credit increased by approximately 88.8% from approximately HK$1.8 million for 2020 to approximately 
HK$3.4 million for 2021. This was mainly due to the recognition of deferred tax credit of approximately HK$1.3 
million for the year and over-provision in prior years, of approximately HK$2.1 million.
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Loss for the year

As a result of foregoing, loss for the year increased from approximately HK$8.7 million for 2020 to approximately 
HK$14.9 million for 2021.

Loss before taxation for footwear and apparel businesses segment amounting to approximately HK$4.9 million 
for 2021 as compared to profit before taxation for the footwear and apparel businesses segment approximately 
HK$12 million for 2020, which was mainly due to the decrease in sales to PRC customers amid various uncertainties 
clouding the global economy and the impact of COVID-19.

Loss before taxation for the loan facilitation and credit assessment services segment decreased from approximately 
HK$13.4 million for 2020 to approximately HK$7.7 million for 2021. This was mainly due to the further cost-cutting 
and restructuring plan implemented in 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LOAN CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had outstanding borrowings with HK$8.0 million (2020: HK$7.0 million). As at 
31 December 2021, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted to approximately HK$3.5 million (2020: 
approximately HK$26.8 million). As at 31 December 2021, debt to equity ratio of the Group was 1.2 (2020: 0.8). 
(Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing the net debt, which is defined as bank borrowings and bank overdrafts 
net of bank balances and cash, by total equity at the end of the respective years.) Current ratio as at 31 December 
2021 was approximately 0.8 times (2020: approximately 2.2 times).

On 10 November 2021, the Company and Mr. Wang Ning (“Mr. Wang”) entered into the subscription agreement, 
pursuant to which Mr. Wang has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed 
to issue approximately 21.93% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$77,000,000 at the 
conversion price of HK$0.70 per conversion share. On 15 November 2021, the Company and Mr. Wang entered 
into a supplemental agreement to the subscription agreement where the principal amount of the convertible 
bonds was reduced to the amount of HK$38,500,000, while all other terms of the convertible bonds remained 
unchanged. After further discussion between the Company and Mr. Wang, both parties agreed to terminate the 
subscription agreement and to enter into the share subscription agreement instead. As such, on 18 November 
2021, the Company and Mr. Wang entered into a termination agreement to terminate the subscription agreement 
with immediate effect. On 18 November 2021, the Company and Mr. Wang entered into the share subscription 
agreement under which the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Mr. Wang conditionally agreed 
to subscribe, 25,080,000 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.544 each (the “SSA with Mr. Wang”). 
Subsequently, on 19 November 2021, the Company and Mr. Wang entered into the supplemental agreement 
pursuant to which the parties thereto agreed to amend the subscription price from HK$0.544 to HK$0.55. As 
such, the gross proceeds and the net proceeds (after deducting the relevant expenses of the subscription) from 
the subscription are approximately HK$13,794,000 and HK$13,394,000, respectively. After deducting the relevant 
expenses of the subscription, the net subscription price is approximately HK$0.53 per share. On 30 December 2021, 
the Company and Mr. Wang entered into the second supplemental agreement pursuant to which the parties thereto 
agreed to extend the long stop date from 31 December 2021 to 30 June 2022.

As at the date of this report, the possible share subscription had not been completed. Further announcements and 
disclosures will be made by the Company in respect of the SSA with Mr. Wang when appropriate. Details of the 
above are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14 November 2021, 18 November 2021, 30 December 
2021 and 31 December 2021.
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The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 December 2021 with bank balances and cash of 
approximately HK$3.5 million (2020: approximately HK$26.8 million). The Board of Directors will continue to follow a 
prudent treasury policy in managing its cash balances and maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the 
Group is well placed to take advantage of growth opportunities for the business.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$6.2 million (2020: net 
current assets approximately HK$17.9 million). The Group’s operations are financed principally by revenue generated 
from its business operation, available cash and bank balances, share placing, advances from a former director/director 
and loan from a former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 
reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and maintains a conservative level of funding to 
finance its operations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no asset pledged (2020: nil) to secure the Group’s interest bearing 
borrowings.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

Revenue, cost and expenses of the Group’s are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and 
Canadian dollars (“CAD”), as such the net exposure to fluctuation of HK$ against RMB and CAD are not material. 
The Group’s management considers that the Group has no significant foreign exchange exposures. Foreign exchange 
risk arising from the normal course of operations is considered to be minimal. As at 31 December 2021, the Group 
did not use any financial instrument for hedging the foreign exchange risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no significant investment held by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) in relation to 67% interests in Stay Fresh 
Footwear Inc. (“Stay Fresh”)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 November 2021, the Company entered into the non-legally 
binding MOU with Mr. Li Kwok Ming and Mr. Dai Aleix (collectively the “Vendors”, and together with the Company, 
the “Parties”). 

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 January 2022, the Parties together with Ms. Ha April Yi 
Pui entered into the share subscription agreement (the “SSA”) in relation to the possible subscription of 7% equity 
interest in Stay Fresh Footwear Inc. at 17 January 2022. As at the date of this report, the possible subscription had 
not been completed. Further announcements will be made by the Company in respect of the SSA of Stay Fresh when 
appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of 
subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2020: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant capital commitments (2020: nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. Placing shares under general mandate

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Silverbricks Securities Company 
Limited (“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed to place up to 100,320,000 placing 
shares (“Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$0.107 per Placing Share, to not less than six persons 
or entities procured by the Placing Agent or its agents to subscribe for any Placing Shares, who and whose 
respective ultimate beneficial owners shall be independent third parties.

The placing was completed on 17 January 2022. The net proceeds, after deduction of all relevant expenses 
(including but not limited to placing commission, legal expenses and disbursements) amounted to 
approximately HK$10,260,000.

2. Share Subscription Agreement of Stay Fresh (the “SSA of Stay Fresh”)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 January 2022, the Company entered into the share 
subscription agreement pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to the possible subscription 
of 7% equity interest in Stay Fresh, at the consideration of HK$1,050,000. 

As at the date of this report, the possible subscription had not been completed. Further announcements will 
be made by the Company in respect of the SSA of Stay Fresh when appropriate. Details of the above are set 
out in the Company’s announcements dated 19 January 2022 and 20 February 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the total employees in mainland China and Hong Kong has decreased from approximately 
180 in 2020 to approximately 12 in 2021, which was mainly a result of our cost-cutting measures. In order to recruit, 
develop and retain talented employees, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to our staff, including 
internal promotion opportunities and performance based bonus. The Group enters into standard employment 
contracts with our staff which contain provisions on intellectual property rights and confidentiality.

The remuneration committee of the Company will make recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration 
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. As at 
31 December 2021, approximately 100% and 100% of the total trade receivables were due from our five largest 
debtors (all being customers) and our largest debtor (being a customer) respectively. The Group will review and 
monitor the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, at the 
end of each reporting year, the Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss model so as to 
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made. The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables and 
contract assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing financial liabilities, 
mainly the interest-bearing loan and lease liabilities. The Group monitors the interest rate exposure on a continuous 
basis.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a substantial portion of its financial assets and financial liabilities are 
due within one year and it can finance its operations from existing shareholders’ funds and internally generated cash 
flows. For the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and cash deemed adequate to 
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effect of fluctuations in cash flows.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group was in compliance in all material respects with the relevant laws and 
regulations applicable to the business operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

According to our business nature and pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong, there are no specific environmental 
standards and/or requirements for conducting the Group’s business in Hong Kong. The Group is aware of 
environmental protection and social responsibility as an enterprise citizen and promotes healthy work place. The 
Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 will be published on 
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on or before 31 May 2022.
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers. The sales personnel and merchandisers make regular 
phone calls to the customers and visit them overseas periodically. If there is any complaint from customers, it will be 
reported to the management and immediate remedial action will be taken.

The Group also maintains a good relationship with its suppliers. During the year ended 31 December 2021, no 
complaint was received from the suppliers and there was no disputed debts or unsettled debts and all the debts are 
settled on or before due dates or a latest date as mutually agreed.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no dispute on salary payments and all accrued remunerations 
were settled on or before their respective due dates, as stipulated under individual employee’s employment contract. 
The Group also ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review the policies on salary 
increment, promotion, bonus, allowances and all other related benefits.

In view of the above and as at the date of the annual report, there is no circumstance or any event which will have a 
significant impact on the Group’s business and on which the Group’s success depends.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The key financial performance indicators of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the section 
headed “Five Years’ Financial Summary” of the annual report.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) presents herewith 
the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in the trading of 
footwear and apparel businesses and the provision of loan facilitation and credit assessment services.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the sections headed 
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the financial position of the Company and the 
Group as at 31 December 2021 are set forth in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 129 of 
the annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the audited consolidated financial statements in the annual report and the Prospectus, is set out on page 130. 
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements in the annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
on page 50.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no distributable reserves available for distribution to shareholders of 
the Company (2020: nil). Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the 
Company is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend 
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary 
course of business. The share premium may also be distributed in form of fully paid bonus shares.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Jun (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Zexiong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Zuze
Mr. Chen Chao (Note 1)
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (Note 2)
Ms. Wei Ju (Note 3)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming (Note 4)
Mr. Lau Kai Pong (Note 5)
Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek (Note 6)
Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung (Note 7)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zhongyong (Note 8)
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence (Note 9)
Mr. Ni Zhixing (Note 10)
Ms. Chen Xin (Note 11)
Mr. Eric Todd (Note 12)
Mr. Lam Wai Hung (Note 13)
Mr. Hung Wai Che (Note 14)
Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Note 15)

Notes:

1. Mr. Chen Chao resigned as executive Director on 3 May 2021.

2. Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho was appointed as executive Director and the authorised representative on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as 

executive Director on 14 November 2021 and ceased as the authorised representative on the same day.
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3. Ms. Wei Ju was appointed as executive Director on 14 November 2021.

4. Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming resigned as non-executive Director on 26 November 2021.

5. Mr. Lau Kai Pong resigned as non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

6. Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek resigned as non-executive Director on 30 June 2021.

7. Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung was appointed as non-executive Director and the authorised representative on 14 November 2021.

8. Mr. Guo Zhongyong resigned as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

9. Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence resigned as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

10. Mr. Ni Zhixing resigned as independent non-executive Director on 14 November 2021.

11. Ms. Chen Xin resigned as independent non-executive Director on 3 May 2021.

12. Mr. Eric Todd was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as independent non-executive 

Director on 12 February 2022.

13. Mr. Lam Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as independent non-executive 

Director on 14 January 2022.

14. Mr. Hung Wai Che was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2021.

15. Mr. Choi Ho Yan was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2022.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Dong Jun and Mr. Huang Zexiong will retire from 
office as Directors by rotation at the AGM. Mr. Dong Jun and Mr. Huang Zexiong will offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Wei Ju, Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung, Mr. Hung Wai Che 
and Mr. Choi Ho Yan appointed as Directors during the year will hold office until the forthcoming AGM and, being 
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Dong Jun, Mr. Huang Zexiong and Mr. Chen Zuze being an executive Director, has entered into a service 
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 11 December 2017, 5 June 2020, 
18 September 2020 respectively, which shall continue thereafter unless terminated by either party by giving not less 
than three months’ prior written notice.

Ms. Wei Ju being an executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of 
one year commencing from 14 November 2021, which shall continue thereafter unless terminated by either party by 
giving not less than one months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung, being a non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for 
an initial term of one year from 14 November 2021 which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than 
one month’s prior written notice.

Each of Mr. Hung Wai Che and Mr. Choi Ho Yan, being an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a 
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year term commencing from 30 December 2021 
and 12 February 2022, respectively, which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than one month’s 
prior written notice.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of 
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 39 to 41 in the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in the 
annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of 
his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (“GEM Listing 
Rules”). The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short Positions in Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any associated corporation” below, at no time during the 
year or at the end of the year has been/was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow 
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements, there has been no transaction, arrangement or 
contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries 
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with the Director is or was materially interested, either 
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed below, no equity-linked agreements that will or 
may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may 
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of 
the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 100% and sales to the Group’s largest customer amounted 
to approximately 30.9% of the total sales for the year, respectively. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers 
accounted for 100% and purchases from the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 52.8% of the total 
purchases for the year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor any shareholders (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors) owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial interest in 
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year are set out in note 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group provides loan facilitation services to the external individual customers to obtain financing 
from a micro-finance company in PRC, a connected person of the Company. It will continue to carry out such 
transactions. The transactions fall within the de minimis rule under Rule 20.74(1) of the GEM Listing Rules and are 
fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements.

Saved as disclosed, none of the related party transactions constituted a connected transaction or continuing 
connected transaction (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that was required to be disclosed and the Company had 
not entered into any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which is subject to the disclosure 
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company did not redeem any of its shares, and neither did the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of the Company’s shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the 
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 
the Group were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any member of the Group was a party and 
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 
December 2021.

No contract of significance (including provision of services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a 
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which were 
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO; or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares or 

Total

Approximate 
percentage 
of interest 

in such 
corporation

underlying shares held

Ordinary Share 
Name of Director Capacity shares options

Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung beneficial owner 135,000 – 135,000 0.03%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, according to the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO, and so far 
as is known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other than a Director or a chief executive 
of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying 
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 11 May 2016. The following is a 
summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant options (the “Options”) to eligible persons, 
which mean among others, any full-time or part-time employee of the Company or any member of the 
Group, including any executive, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors, advisors, 
consultants of our Company or any of the subsidiaries (“Eligible Person”) as incentives or rewards for their 
contributions to our Group.

2. Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any Eligible Persons to take up Options at a price calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (4) below. Upon acceptance of the Option, the Eligible Person shall pay 
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for acceptance for 
a period of not less than 5 business days from the date on which the Option is granted.

3. Grant of Option

Any grant of Options must not be made after an inside information has come to the Company’s knowledge 
until it has announced the information in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules. In 
particular, during the period commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the date of 
our Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the GEM Listing 
Rules) for the approval of the Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarter-year period or any other 
interim period (whether or not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and (b) the deadline for the Company 
to publish an announcement of its results for any year, half-year, quarter-year period under the GEM Listing 
Rules or any other interim period (whether or not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and ending on the 
date of the results announcement, no Option may be granted. The period during which no Option may be 
granted will cover any period of delay in the publication of a result announcement.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to a Eligible Person 
who accepts or is deemed to have accepted the offer of any Option in accordance with the terms of the Share 
Option Scheme (“Participant”) under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including both exercised 
and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to 
time, and provided that if approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such Participant and his close 
associates (or his associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting, the Company 
may make a further grant of Options to such Participant (the “Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the 
Further Grant would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and 
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes to such Participant (including exercised, 
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of the Further Grant 
representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time. In relation to the Further Grant, 
the Company must send a circular to its Shareholders, which discloses the identity of the relevant Participant, 
the number and the terms of the Options to be granted (and Options previously granted to such Participant 
under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes) and the information required under the GEM Listing 
Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise price) of Options which is the subject of the Further 
Grant shall be fixed before the relevant Shareholders’ meeting and the date of meeting of our Board for 
proposing the Further Grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the Exercise 
Price (as defined below).

Where Options are proposed to be granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the 
Company or any of their respective associates, the proposed grant must be approved by the independent 
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the proposed Participant). 
If a grant of Options to a substantial shareholder of the Company or an independent non-executive Director, 
or any of their respective associates will result in the total number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon 
exercise of the Options granted and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to 
such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the grant (i) representing in aggregate 
over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may from time to time specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares 
in issue, and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of the grant, 
in excess of HK$5 million, then the proposed grant of Options must be approved by the Shareholders on a 
poll in a general meeting.

4. Price of Shares

The exercise price for the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board (“Exercise 
Price”) and notified to each Participant and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which must be a Trading 
Day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for 
the five Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the Options; and (iii) the nominal value of a 
Share.
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5. Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all Options to be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme and other schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (the 
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) unless approved by the Shareholders pursuant to the terms of the Share Option 
Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or other scheme will not 
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. On the basis of 480,000,000 Shares in 
issue, the Scheme Mandate Limit will be equivalent to 48,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in 
issue.

Subject to the approval of Shareholders in general meeting, the Company may renew the Scheme Mandate 
Limit to the extent that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Options to be 
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes under the Scheme Mandate Limit as renewed 
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of such Shareholders’ approval provided that 
Options previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including those outstanding, 
cancelled, exercised or lapsed in accordance with the terms thereof) will not be counted for the purpose of 
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit as renewed.

The Company may not grant any Options if the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes in 
aggregate exceeds 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

6. Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the 
applicable option period, provided that, among others, the period within which the Option must be exercised 
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant of Option. The exercise of an Option may be 
subject to the achievement of performance target and/or any other conditions to be notified by the Board to 
each Participant, which the Board may in its absolute discretion determine.

7. Period of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 30 May 2016, 
after which period no further Options may be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall 
remain in full force and effect in all other respects and Options granted during the life of the Share Option 
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

No share option has been granted, cancelled or lapsed since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and 
there was no share option outstanding as at 31 December 2021.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates (all as defined 
under the GEM Listing Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may compete, directly or indirectly, with 
the business of the Group or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are they aware of any other 
conflicts of interest which any such persons has or may have with the Group.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES IN SANCTIONED COUNTRIES

The United States (“US”) government and other jurisdictions, including the European Union (“EU”), the United 
Nations and the Australian government, have comprehensive or broad economic sanctions targeting the Sanctioned 
Countries. “Sanctioned Countries” are those countries which are the targets of economic sanctions as 
administered by the U.S., the EU, the United Nations and Australia.

The Board had effectively monitored and evaluated our business exposure to sanctions risk, including (i) the 
establishment of a risk management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”), comprising Mr. Huang 
Zexiong, Mr. Chen Zuze, Ms. Wei Ju, Mr. Hung Wai Che. The responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee 
include, among others, monitoring our exposure to sanctions risk and our implementation of the related internal 
control procedures; (ii) assigned members of our merchandising department and order processing department 
to review the information relating to our customer(s) or the counterparty(ies) of the contract (including its full 
name, country of incorporation or registration and country of shipment destination) before entering into any 
business transaction with any of them. Our designated staff will check the information of our customer(s) or the 
counterparty(ies) against various lists of restricted parties and countries maintained by the US, the EU, Australia or 
the United Nations, including, without limitation, any government, individual or entity that is the subject of any 
OFAC-administered sanctions (the “International Sanctions List”), and determine whether our customer(s) or the 
counterparty(ies) (i) is/are registered or operate(s) in the Sanctioned Countries; (ii) is/are owned or controlled by a 
sanctioned person; or (iii) has/have shipment destination which is located in the Sanctioned Countries.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of the annual report, none of our products were 
sold to any Sanctioned Countries. The Group has not entered into any sanctionable transactions that would or may 
expose our Group, the Stock Exchange, HKSCC, HKSCC Nominees and our shareholders or investors to any risk of 
being sanctioned. Also, the Company has not used any of the proceeds from the Placing as well as any other funding 
raised through the Stock Exchange to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or business with, or for the 
benefit of, the Sanctioned Countries or any other government, individual or entity sanctioned by the US, the EU, 
Australia or the United Nations, which include, without limitation, any government, individual or entity that is the 
subject of any OFAC-administered sanction. During the year, the Company has maintained separate bank accounts in 
licensed banks in Hong Kong which are designated for proceeds from the Placing.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Company was established for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and 
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group having regard to the Group’s 
operating results, individual performance and comparable market standard and practices. The Company has adopted 
a share option scheme as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in the 
section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance. Information on the corporate 
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 38.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 
2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director 
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, 
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of 
their duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year. The Company 
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the 
Group.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), who was the auditor of the Group, has resigned as the auditor of the Group 
with effect from 24 December 2021. Deloitte, in their letter of resignation, confirmed that there were no matters in 
connection with their resignation that needed to be brought to the attention of the creditors or shareholders of the 
Company. The Board also confirmed that there was no disagreement or unresolved matter between the Company 
and Deloitte, and that they were not aware of any matters in relation to the resignation of Deloitte as auditor of the 
Group that needed to be brought to the attention of holders of securities of the Company.

The Company has appointed UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited (“UniTax Prism”) as the auditors of the Company 
for the Year with effect from 24 December 2021. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2021 have been audited by UniTax Prism. UniTax Prism will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to reappoint UniTax Prism and to authorise 
the Directors to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Ms. Wei Ju
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The corporate governance practices of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) are based on the principles and the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the 
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules (“GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions of the 
Code, except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) without the executive directors present. For 
the year ended 31 December 2021, a formal meeting was not arranged between the Chairman and the non– 
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without the executive Directors present due to 
the tight schedules of the Chairman and the independent non-executive Directors. Although such meeting was not 
held during the year, the Chairman could be contacted by email or phone to discuss any potential concerns and/
or questions that the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors might have and would 
arrange to set up follow-up meetings, whenever necessary.

Code Provision A.5.1 of the Code (which has been re-numbered as Rules 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules since 1 
January 2022) requires the Nomination Committee chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent non-
executive director and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors. Following the resignation of Mr. 
Ni Zhixing on 12 November 2021, the number of independent non-executive directors on the Board were less than 
three and the Nomination Committee were not comprised a majority of independent non-executive directors. The 
Company has identify a suitable candidate to fill the vacancy and appointed Mr. Hung Wai Che as an independent 
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 30 December 2021. The Board will adopt the new 
Corporate Governance Code (the “New CG Code”) with effect from 1 January 2022, the requirements under which 
shall apply to the Company’s corporate governance report in the financial year commencing on or after 1 January 
2022. The Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure 
compliance with the New CG Code and align with the latest development.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 108 of the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company, at each annual general 
meeting (“AGM”) one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be 
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles, any director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy shall 
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at 
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until 
the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Dong Jun and Mr. Huang Zexiong will retire from office as Directors by 
rotation at the AGM and, being eligible will offer themselves for re-election.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, Ms. Wei Ju, Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung, Mr. Hung Wai Che and Mr. Choi Ho Yan 
appointed as Directors during the year will hold office until the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election.

Each of Mr. Dong Jun, Mr. Huang Zexiong and Mr. Chen Zuze being an executive Director, has entered into a service 
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 11 December 2017, 5 June 2020, 
18 September 2020 respectively, which shall continue thereafter unless terminated by either party by giving not less 
than three months’ prior written notice.

Ms. Wei Ju being an executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of 
one year commencing from 14 November 2021, which shall continue thereafter unless terminated by either party by 
giving not less than one months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung, being a non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for 
an initial term of one year from 14 November 2021 which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than 
one month’s prior written notice.

Each of Mr. Hung Wai Che and Mr. Choi Ho Yan, being an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a 
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year term commencing from 30 December 2021 
and 12 February 2022, respectively, which may be terminated by either party by giving not less than one month’s 
prior written notice.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable 
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealing, as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, 
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in respect of the shares of the Company. Having 
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required 
standard of dealing and the code of conduct for securities transactions by directors during the year ended 31 
December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report are as 
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Jun (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Zexiong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Zuze
Mr. Chen Chao (Note 1)
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (Note 2)
Ms. Wei Ju (Note 3)
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming (Note 4)
Mr. Lau Kai Pong (Note 5)
Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek (Note 6)
Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung (Note 7)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zhongyong (Note 8)
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence (Note 9)
Mr. Ni Zhixing (Note 10)
Ms. Chen Xin (Note 11)
Mr. Eric Todd (Note 12)
Mr. Lam Wai Hung (Note 13)
Mr. Hung Wai Che (Note 14)
Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Note 15)

Notes:

1. Mr. Chen Chao resigned as executive Director on 3 May 2021.

 

2. Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho was appointed as executive Director and the authorised representative on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as 

executive Director on 14 November 2021 and ceased as the authorised representative on the same day.

 

3. Ms. Wei Ju was appointed as executive Director on 14 November 2021.

 

4. Mr. Wen Cyrus Jung-Ming resigned as non-executive Director on 26 November 2021.

 

5. Mr. Lau Kai Pong resigned as non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

 

6. Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek resigned as non-executive Director on 30 June 2021.

 

7. Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung was appointed as non-executive Director and the authorised representative on 14 November 2021.

 

8. Mr. Guo Zhongyong resigned as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

 

9. Mr. Hong Ping Cho Terence resigned as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

 

10. Mr. Ni Zhixing resigned as independent non-executive Director on 14 November 2021.

 

11. Ms. Chen Xin resigned as independent non-executive Director on 3 May 2021.

 

12. Mr. Eric Todd was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as independent non-executive 

Director on 12 February 2022.

 

13. Mr. Lam Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021. Also, he resigned as independent non-executive 

Director on 14 January 2022.

 

14. Mr. Hung Wai Che was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2021.

15. Mr. Choi Ho Yan was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2022.
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The brief biographic details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 39 to 41 of the annual report.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules 
during the year ended 31 December 2021. All independent non-executive Directors also meet the guidelines for 
assessment of their independence as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Board’s primary duty is to 
ensure the viability of the Company and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests of the Shareholders as a 
whole while taking into account the interests of other stakeholders. The management is delegated with the authority 
and responsibility by the Board for the management and administration of the Group. The Group has adopted 
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, 
the Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, key operational initiatives, major investments and funding decisions. 
It also reviews the Group’s financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business and ensures 
implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions 
of the Group are delegated to the management.

The Board is also delegated with the corporate governance functions under code provision D.3.1 of the Code. 
The Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties 
properly. In compliance with code provision A.1.3 of the Code, at least 14 days’ notice has been given for a regular 
Board meeting to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Notice, agenda and board papers of regular Board 
meetings are sent to all Directors within reasonable time and at least 3 days prior to the meetings. Directors are free 
to contribute and share their views at meetings and major decisions will only be taken after deliberation at Board 
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests or material interests in the proposed transactions 
or issues to be discussed will not be counted in the quorum of meeting and will abstain from voting on the relevant 
resolutions. Full minutes are prepared after the meetings and the draft minutes are sent to all Directors for their 
comments before the final version of which are endorsed in the subsequent Board meeting.
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Details of the attendance of the Board meetings, audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, 
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) meeting, nomination committee (the “Nomination 
Committee”) meeting, risk management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) meeting and general 
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2021 are summarized as follows:

Board 

meeting

Audit 

Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 

Committee 

meeting

Nomination 

Committee 

meeting

Risk 

Management 

Committee 

meeting

General 

meeting

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Jun 7/16 N/A N/A 2/4 N/A N/A

Mr. Huang Zexiong 12/16 N/A 3/4 N/A 1/1 N/A

Mr. Chen Zuze 11/16 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Chen Chao (Note 1) 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (Note 2) 8/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ms. Wei Ju (Note 3) 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming (Note 4) 7/13 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A

Mr. Lau Kai Pong (Note 5) 1/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek (Note 6) 2/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung (Note 7) 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent  

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zhongyong (Note 8) 3/3 2/2 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence (Note 9) 6/6 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Ni Zhixing (Note 10) 9/11 N/A 2/2 2/2 N/A N/A

Ms. Chen Xin (Note 11) 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A

Mr. Eric Todd (Note 12) 13/13 3/3 1/1 2/2 N/A N/A

Mr. Lam Wai Hung (Note 13) 13/13 3/3 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A

Mr. Hung Wai Che (Note 14) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Note 15) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Notes:

1. Mr. Chen Chao resigned as an executive Director on 3 May 2021 and ceased as a member of the Risk Management Committee.

2. Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho was appointed as an executive Director on 25 May 2021 and resigned as executive Director on 14 November 2021.

3. Ms. Wei Ju was appointed as executive Director on 14 November 2021 and appointed as a member of the Risk Management Committee on 
the same day.

4. Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming resigned as non-executive Director on 26 November 2021 and ceased to serve as a member of the Risk 
Management Committee on the same day.

5. Mr. Lau Kai Pong resigned as non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.

6. Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek resigned as a non-executive Director on 30 June 2021.

7. Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung was appointed as non-executive Director on 14 November 2021 and appointed as a member of the Risk Management 
Committee on the same day.
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8. Mr. Guo Zhongyong resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021 and ceased as a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination Committee on the same day.

9. Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence resigned as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021 and ceased as the chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on the same day.

10. Mr. Ni Zhixing resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 14 November 2021 and ceased as the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on the same day.

11. Ms. Chen Xin resigned as independent non-executive on 3 May 2021 and ceased as the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee and 
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on the same day.

12. Mr. Eric Todd was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021 and appointed as a member of the Audit Committee 
and Nomination Committee on the same day. He is also appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 30 December 2021. 
Besides, he resigned as independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2022 and ceased to serve as a member of the Audit Committee, 
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on the same day.

13. Mr. Lam Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 25 May 2021 and appointed as the chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on the same day. He is also appointed as a member of the Nomination 
Committee on 30 December 2021. Besides, he resigned as independent non-executive Director on 14 January 2022 and ceased to serve as 
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on the same day.

14. Mr. Hung Wai Che was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2021 and appointed as the chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee 
on the same day.

15. Mr. Choi Ho Yan was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2022 and appointed as the chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee on the same 
day.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established specific committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. 
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee are posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 May 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with the code provisions of the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendation to 
the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditors; review financial statements and material advice in 
respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control procedures of the Company.

The Audit Committee currently consists of two members, namely Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Chairman) and Mr. Hung Wai 
Che, all being independent non-executive Directors (the “Audit Committee“). The Audit Committee had reviewed 
the first quarterly report of the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2021, the interim results of the Group 
for the six months ended 30 June 2021; the third quarterly results of the Group for the nine months ended 30 
September 2021 and the final results for the year ended 31 December 2021 before submission to the Board for 
approval. The Audit Committee is of the view that the annual results complied with the applicable accounting 
standards, the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate 
disclosures had been made.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the attendance of the 
Audit Committee meetings are set out above.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11 May 2016 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the code provisions of the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make 
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior 
management of our Group; review performance based remuneration; and ensure none of our Directors determine 
their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members, namely Mr. Hung Wai Che (Chairman) and 
Mr. Choi Ho Yan, being independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Huang Zexiong, an executive Director 
(the “Remuneration Committee“). The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent 
non-executive Directors. The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to, among other things, 
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and the 
performance of the Group. The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on remuneration 
packages of individual executive Directors and the members of senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held 4 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the attendance 
of the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration packages and performance of the 
Directors and the senior management during the year ended 31 December 2021.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11 May 2016 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the code provisions of the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the 
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board 
members; assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make recommendations to the 
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members, namely, Mr. Dong Jun (Chairman), an executive 
Director, Mr. Hung Wai Che and Mr. Choi Ho Yan, being independent non-executive Directors (the “Nomination 
Committee”). The majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 4 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the attendance of 
the Nomination Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed 
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, reviewed the qualifications of the Directors, the 
progress on the implementation of the board diversity policy and other related matters of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 11 May 2016. The primary duties of the Risk 
Management Committee are to review the Company’s risk management policies and monitor the Company’s 
exposure to sanctions law risks and our implementation of the related internal control procedures.

The Risk Management Committee currently consists of six members, namely Mr. Huang Zexiong (Chairman), Mr. 
Chen Zuze, Ms. Wei Ju, Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung, Mr. Hung Wai Che and Mr. Choi Ho Yan (the “Risk Management 
Committee”).

The Risk Management Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the 
attendance of the Risk Management Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Risk Management Committee had reviewed and discussed the scope of internal control review 
and the appointment of an internal control consultant of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

The Group has adopted policy in relation to the diversity of the members of the Board and the summary of the policy 
is as follows:

(1) selection of Board members will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would include but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service; and

(2) the Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the diversity policy from time to time to 
ensure the effectiveness of the diversity policy.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for an unfixed term. Every Director is subject to re-
election on retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The Company has 
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to 
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent as at 
the date of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his 
appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is fully 
aware of the director’s responsibilities under the statues and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other 
regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies. The Directors had attended training 
sessions on obligations, duties and responsibilities of directors conducted by the Company’s Hong Kong legal 
advisers.
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The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to refresh their duties and responsibilities. All 
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been 
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According to the training records maintained by the 
Company, the trainings received by each of the Directors (including directors’ induction training) up to 31 December 
2021 are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors Type of trainings

Mr. Dong Jun B
Mr. Huang Zexiong A, B
Mr. Chen Zuze A, B
Mr. Chen Chao A, B
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho B
Ms. Wei Ju B
Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming A, B
Mr. Lau Kai Pong B
Mr. Chan Kwan Wah Derek A, B
Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung B
Mr. Guo Zhongyong B
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence A, B
Mr. Ni Zhixing A, B
Ms. Chen Xin A, B
Mr. Eric Todd B
Mr. Law Wai Hung B
Mr. Hung Wai Che B

A: attending seminars/conferences/forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and 

responsibilities

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ngai Tsz Hin Michael has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company since 1 September 2021. 
In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Ngai has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2021.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary. The company secretary reports to the 
Chairman on board governance matters, and are responsible for ensuring that board procedures are followed, and 
for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) 
and management.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Huang Zexiong, an executive Director, has been appointed as the compliance officer of the Group to oversee all 
compliance matters.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S AND MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The senior management’s and management’s remuneration payment of the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2021 falls within the following bands:

Number of 
individuals

HK$1,000,000 or below 4

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each 
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows 
for that period in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The statement by the 
auditor of the Company about its responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s 
report contained in the annual report. The Directors adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited (“UniTax Prism”) as its principal auditor for the year ended 
31 December 2021. There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, 
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the principal auditor. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fee 
payable to UniTax Prism in respect of its statutory audit services provided to the Group was HK$800,000. The 
principal auditor of the Company also provided non-audit services in the sum of HK$60,000, in relation to the 
agreed-upon procedure services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management and internal control systems of the Group 
on an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board, through the Risk Management Committee, conducted review 
of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, 
covering all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that 
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal 
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Risk Management Committee communicates 
any material issues to the Board.
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Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Company established its enterprise risk management framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall 
responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for 
designing and implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated 
treatments. Our risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated 
Framework, which allows the Board and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board 
receives regular reports through the Risk Management Committee that oversights risk management and internal 
audit functions.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance structure with operational management and 
controls performed by operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried out by the 
finance and compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced to and conducted by an independent 
external consultant. The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The 
risk register provides the Board, the Risk Management Committee, and management with a profile of its major risks 
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based 
on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is updated by management as 
the risk owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the 
annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group proactively manages the 
risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to those 
risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk 
management framework will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the 
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensuring that risk management forms part of the 
daily business operation processes in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals to review the Group’s system of internal 
controls and risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management 
systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The directors have reviewed the need for an internal 
audit function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it 
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the 
Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the directors will continue to review at least annually the need for an 
internal audit function.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or 
more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of 
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board 
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called 
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene 
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

In order to keep Shareholders well informed of the business activities and direction of the Group, information about 
the Group has been provided to the Shareholders through financial reports and announcements. The Company 
has established its own corporate website (jimugroup.hk) as a channel to facilitate effective communication with 
its Shareholders and the public. The Company will continue to enhance communications and relationships with its 
Shareholders and investors. A shareholder communication policy was adopted on 11 May 2016 to comply with code 
provision E.1.4 of the Code.

Shareholders, investors and interested parties can make enquiries directly to the Company through the following 
e-mail: info@jimugroup.com.hk

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Contact details are as 
follows:

Jimu Group Limited

Address: Unit 06, 12th Floor, The Broadway, No. 54-62 Lockhart Road, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 3905-1878
Fax: (852) 3461-9787
E-mail: info@jimugroup.com.hk

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board, where 
appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 
BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person (other than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to 
the office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for 
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at 
the head office or at the office of the branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong no 
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no 
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such 
notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days. The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person 
for election as a Director is posted on the website of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended 31 
December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Jun（董駿）
Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Dong, aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Company on 11 December 
2017. Mr. Dong is the founder and the chief executive officer of Jimu Holdings Limited (previously known as 
Pintec Holdings Limited) (“JIMU HOLDINGS”). Mr. Dong has 17 years of financial services and capital market 
experience. He previously served as a bond trader and fixed income portfolio manager at the New York Branch of 
Bank Hapoalim. Mr. Dong holds a bachelor degree from Yunnan University, a Master of Business Administration 
degree from the University of Connecticut, and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the 
China Europe International Business School (CEIBS). He is a Chief Financial Analyst Charterholder and holds Certified 
Management Accountants and Certified Financial Manager designations. Mr. Dong is a director of Huawen Industry 
Group Limited (previously known as Jimu Times Limited) (“Huawen Industry”), which owns 85% of the issued 
share capital of Jimu Group Holdings Limited (“JIMU GROUP”), the controlling shareholder of the Company. He is 
also a director of JIMU HOLDINGS, which is the 100% parent company of Huawen Industry. Mr. Dong is currently 
a director and Chairman of Pintec Technology Holdings Limited (ticker symbol: PT) whose shares are listed on the 
United States Nasdaq Stock Market.

Mr. Huang Zexiong（黃澤雄）
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Huang, aged 35 was appointed as an executive Director on 5 June 2020 and chief executive officer of the 
Company on 18 September 2020. Mr. Huang has over 10 years of experience in financial service, focusing on SME 
financial services, financing guarantees, consumption installments service, real estate mortgage financing, small and 
micro credit and other financial products. Mr. Huang, joined Jimu Holdings Limited, the immediate holding company, 
in 2014, hold a bachelor’s degree of Economics from the Yunnan Economic University.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Chen Zuze（陳袓澤）
Executive Director

Mr. Chen, aged 37 was appointed as an executive Director on 18 September 2020. Mr. Chen has over 15 years 
of experience in the apparel and footwear industry, especially have deep insight and understanding from internet 
thinking, e-commerce and customer behavior, as well as have strong business practical capabilities and rich team 
management experience. Prior to joining the Group, he served as a vice executive director in a company incorporated 
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) mainly engaged in the apparel and footwear business. Mr. Chen obtained 
a Bachelor of Engineering from Zhejiang University.

Ms. Wei Ju（韋菊）
Executive Director

Ms. Wei, aged 28, was appointed as an executive Director on 14 November 2021. Ms. Wei has studied 
administrative management in Guangdong Ocean University and graduated in June 2015. Ms. Wei has over 5 years 
of experience in asset management and administrative work. She was a director assistant in Shenzhen Baoliqin 
Information consulting Co., Ltd*（深圳市寶利勤資訊諮詢有限公司）from 2015 to 2018. She was also work as an 
investment manager in Shenwan hongyuan securities CO., Ltd*（申萬宏源證券深圳分公司）from 2018 to 2019. 
Since 2019, she has been a director of marketing in Shenzhen Hongji Tai Fu Asset Management Co., Ltd.*（深圳市泓
基泰富資產管理有限公司）.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung（岑子揚）
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Shum, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 14 November 2021. Mr. Shum was served in Li, 
Lai & Cheung, Certified Public Accountants from November 1998 to February 2018 and his last position was senior 
audit manager. He has over 19 years of experience in accounting, auditing, advisory on corporate governance, 
internal control, financial management and business administration. He was appointed as chief financial officer of 
Sang Hing Civil on 1 April 2018 and is appointed as a Chief Financial Officer to Sang Hing Holdings (International) 
Limited (stock code: 1472). Mr. Shum obtained a diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong Lee Wai Lee Technical 
Institute in August 1998. He was accredited as a Hong Kong Accounting Technician by the Hong Kong Association of 
Accounting Technicians in November 1998.

* For reference purposes only, the Chinese names of the PRC entities and terms have been translated into English in this report. In the event of 

any discrepancies between the Chinese names of the PRC entities and terms and their English translation, the Chinese version shall prevail.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Hung Wai Che（孔偉賜）
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Hung, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2021. Mr. Hung has 
over 14 years of experience in legal field and operating and managing various energy and recycling projects including 
power station and oil refinery factories in China and Hong Kong. He graduated from the University of Wales, 
Aberystwyth, United Kingdom with Honours Degree in Law. Since August 2016, Mr. Hung is the independent non-
executive director of Kingkey Financial International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 1468), a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Choi Ho Yan（蔡浩仁）
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Choi, aged 45, was appointed as an independent-non-executive Director on 12 February 2022. Mr. Choi has over 
23 years of extensive experience in accounting, auditing, corporate finance and restructuring, investor relations, and 
project acquisitions. He also has experience in serving listed companies operating in Mainland China, Hong Kong and 
Singapore. He graduated from University of Hertfordshire, the United Kingdom in July 1998 with a bachelor of arts. 
Since May 2013, Mr. Choi has been serving as an independent non-executive director of Time Watch Investments 
Limited (stock code: 2033). In March 2020 to March 2021, Mr. Choi served as an independent non-executive director 
of Long Well International Holdings Limited (“Long Well”) (stock code: 850). Since June 2020, Mr. Choi has been 
serving as an independent non-executive director of China Saite Group Company Limited (stock code: 153).

Within 12 months after Mr. Choi ceasing to act as one of the independent non-executive directors of Long Well, on 
8 November 2021, the High Court ordered that Long Well be wound up under the Companies (Winding Up and 
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Long Well is a limited liability company 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, the shares of which were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 
13 November 2002 and was delisted on 28 May 2021. Mr. Choi was appointed as an independent non-executive 
director on 5 March 2020, and subsequently resigned his role as an independent non-executive director on 5 
March 2021. The principal activities of Long Well mainly included: (i) trading of commodities, chemical products, 
and petroleum products; (ii) exploitation and sale of crude oil; (iii) leasing of investment properties; and (iv) money 
lending, securities brokerage and asset management business. Mr. Choi confirmed that he is not aware of any 
current or potential claim that has been or will be made against him as a result of the winding up of Long Well.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ngai Tsz Hin Michael （倪子軒）

Mr. Ngai Tsz Hin Michael obtained his Bachelor of Laws and postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of 
Hong Kong in 2011 and 2012, respectively. He is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong, and currently a partner of Khoo 
& Co. and a consultant of O Tse & Co.. He currently serves as the company secretary of four companies listed on the 
Stock Exchange.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF JIMU GROUP LIMITED
積木集團有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 129, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$14,883,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021 and, as of 
that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$6,160,000 and HK$6,244,000 
respectively. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company, having considered the measures being taken by the 
Group, are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and 
when they fall due and, accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements on 26 March 2021.

　
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of inventories

Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 68.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit 
matter due to the use of judgements in identifying 
obsolete and slow moving inventories and determining 
the net realisable value (“NRV”) which are based on 
conditions and the marketability of the inventories.

NRV represents the estimated selling prices in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated selling 
expenses. The Group carried out the inventory 
review at the end of the reporting period and 
made the necessary allowance on obsolete and 
slow moving items so as to write off or write down 
inventories to their NRVs. As at 31 December 2021, 
the carrying amount of inventories is approximately 
HK$12,156,000, no impairment provisions have been 
made.

Our procedures in relation to management’s NRV 
assessment of NRV of inventories included:

– evaluated the management’s assessment of the 
conditions and the marketability of the obsolete 
and slow moving inventories and identify any 
valuation risk of inventories.

– assessed the reasonableness of the basis of 
determining the NRV and evaluate the condition 
and marketability of the inventories adopted by 
the management. We have tested the subsequent 
sales on a sample basis, to source documents. We 
have also assessed the sufficiency of allowance on 
obsolete and slow moving inventories made by 
management where the estimated NRV is lower 
than the cost with reference to the latest selling 
price, on a sampling basis.
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We identified the revenue recognition on provision of 
loan facilitation services as a key audit matter due to 
its significance to the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, as well as significant judgement exercised 
in the identification of performance obligations and 
assumptions involved in the allocation of transaction 
price and estimation of variable considerations.

For the provision of loan facil itation services, 
management identif ied mult iple performance 
obligations with revenue from the pre-loan facilitation 
services recognised at a point in time when the 
corresponding loan agreement is executed and revenue 
from the post-loan facilitation services recognised over 
the loan period on a straight-line basis. As further 
disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, management allocated the transaction 
price among pre-loan facilitation services and post-
loan facilitation services using an expected cost plus 
a margin approach to determine the best estimate of 
selling prices of respective performance obligations 
and estimated the rate of early loan repayment to 
determine the amount of variable consideration, 
being the service fees expected to be refunded to the 
customers due to early repayment of the outstanding 
loan balance before the original maturity date.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group 
recognised revenue from provision of loan facilitation 
services amounting to HK$3,034,000 as set out in Note 
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition on 
provision of loan facilitation services included:

– Obtained an understanding of the key controls 
over the processes that the management 
performed in relation to the revenue recognition;

– Obtained an understanding of revenue recognition 
policies of the Group and evaluating whether 
the identification of performance obligations, 
the allocation of the transaction price and the 
estimation of variable considerations in each 
distinct performance obligation are in accordance 
with the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers;

– Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions 
used in the revenue recognition of loan facilitation 
business, including the allocation of the transaction 
price among pre-loan facilitation services and post-
loan facilitation services and the determination 
of variable considerations based on the Group’s 
historical data on cost allocation and service fees 
refund and re-performing calculations of revenue 
recognised from the loan facilitation business; and

– Performed test of details on loan facilitation service 
transactions, on a sample basis, by examining 
the contract with customer and tracing to the 
fund remittance record to verify the existence of 
contract.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS – continued

Revenue recognition on provision of loan facilitation services

Refer to notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
 

46 Jimu Group Limited | Annual Report 2021

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – continued

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Mr. Dai Tin Yau.

UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Dai Tin Yau
Practising Certificate Number: P06318
Hong Kong
23 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

NOTES 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from goods and services 5 9,331 83,293
Cost of inventories sold (5,189) (42,206)
Other income 7A 1,254 6,404
Other gains and losses 7B 376 2,244
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model,  

net of reversal 8 (1,002) 578
Employee benefits expenses (13,336) (43,190)
Other operating expenses 9 (9,273) (17,250)
Finance costs 10 (424) (368)

Loss before tax (18,263) (10,495)
Income tax credit 11 3,380 1,790

Loss for the year 12 (14,883) (8,705)

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation from  

functional currency to presentation currency 70 325

Total comprehensive expense for the year (14,813) (8,380)

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (HK cents) 15 (2.97) (1.80)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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NOTES 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 16 140 306
Right-of-use assets 17 283 –
Rental deposits 20 144 76
Contract assets 21 32 91

599 473

Current assets
Inventories 18 12,156 –
Trade receivables 19 2,986 877
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 20 866 3,263
Contract assets 21 1,519 2,315
Bank balances and cash 22 3,485 26,831

21,012 33,286

Current liabilities
Trade payables 23 9,792 953
Other payables and accruals 24 7,813 8,506
Interest-bearing borrowings 25 8,026 –
Amount due to a former director 26 – 440
Tax payable – 1,902
Lease liabilities 28 789 675
Contract liabilities 29 746 1,389
Refund liabilities 30 6 1,540

27,172 15,405

Net current (liabilities) assets (6,160) 17,881

Total assets less current liabilities (5,561) 18,354

Non-current liabilities
Loan from a former subsidiary/fellow subsidiary 27 – 6,998
Lease liabilities 28 486 925
Contract liabilities 29 3 418
Refund liabilities 30 – 6
Deferred tax liabilities 32 194 1,438

683 9,785

Net (liabilities) assets (6,244) 8,569

Capital and reserves
Share capital 33 5,016 5,016
Reserves and accumulated losses (11,260) 3,553

(Capital deficiency) total equity (6,244) 8,569

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 129 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 23 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

WEI JU SHUM TSZ YEUNG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

　
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
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Share
capital

Share
premium

Translation
reserve

Capital
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note a) (Note b)

At 1 January 2020 4,800 46,917 (177) (67) – (48,624) 2,849

Loss for the year – – – – – (8,705) (8,705)
Exchange differences on translation  

from functional currency to  
presentation currency – – 325 – – – 325

Total comprehensive income (expense)  
for the year – – 325 – – (8,705) (8,380)

Transfer to statutory reserve – – – – 1,630 (1,630) –
Deemed contribution from  

a former director (Note 26) – – – 5,017 – – 5,017
Placing of new shares (Note 33) 216 9,245 – – – – 9,461
Transaction costs attributable to  

placing of new shares – (378) – – – – (378)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 5,016 55,784 148 4,950 1,630 (58,959) 8,569

Loss for the year – – – – – (14,883) (14,883)
Exchange differences on translation  

from functional currency to  
presentation currency – – 70 – – – 70

Total comprehensive income (expense)  
for the year – – 70 – – (14,883) (14,813)

At 31 December 2021 5,016 55,784 218 4,950 1,630 (73,842) (6,244)

Notes:

(a) Capital reserve represents (i) an amount of HK$77,000 representing the difference between the carrying amount of the non-controlling 

interests which exceeded the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of additional 60% non-controlling interests in a 

subsidiary, Alliance International Sourcing Limited (“Alliance”) in previous years; (ii) an amount of HK$10,000 representing the sum of the 

share capital of certain group entities, including Ever Smart International Enterprise Limited, Dodge & Swerve Limited and Alliance, which 

have been transferred to capital reserve under the reorganisation in 2015; and (iii) an amount of HK$5,017,000 representing the waiver 

of amount due to a former director, pursuant to the deed of waiver agreement entered into between the former director and Ever Smart 

International Enterprise Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2020.

(b) According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), each of the Company’s subsidiaries in the 

PRC shall transfer 10% of their net income after taxation, based on the PRC statutory accounts of the respective subsidiary, as statutory 

reserves, until the balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s registered capital. Further appropriations can be made at the directors’ 

discretion. The statutory reserves can be used to offset any accumulated losses or convert into paid-up capital of the respective subsidiary.

　
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (18,263) (10,495)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and equipment 160 385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36 747
Finance costs 424 368
(Gain) loss on disposal of plant and equipment, net (52) 78
Gain on termination of lease liabilities, net (422) (2,586)
Impairment losses recognised (reversed) on

– right-of-use assets – 159
– financial assets and other items under expected credit loss model 1,002 (578)

Interest income (72) (305)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (17,187) (12,227)
Increase in inventories (12,156) –
Increase in trade receivables (2,150) (880)
Decrease in other receivables, prepayments and deposits 2,206 7,826
(Increase) decrease in contract assets (52) 8,501
Increase in trade payables 8,839 –
Decrease in other payables and accruals (775) (4,410)
Decrease in contract liabilities (1,070) (6,761)
Decrease in refund liabilities (1,552) (11,294)

Cash used in operations (23,897) (19,245)
Income tax refund (paid) 220 (673)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (23,677) (19,918)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 72 252
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 60 –
Purchase of plant and equipment – (26)

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 132 226

　
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings raised 8,000 –
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary (6,998) (44,224)
Repayment of amount due to a former director (440) (3,000)
Interest paid (424) (368)
Repayment of lease liabilities (261) (3,080)
Advance from a fellow subsidiary – 51,222
Proceeds from placing of new shares – 9,461
Advance from a former director/director – 2,107
Transaction costs attributable to placing of new shares – (378)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (123) 11,740

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (23,668) (7,952)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 26,831 33,584

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 322 1,199

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR,  
REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 3,485 26,831
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public listed company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited. The registered office of the Company is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand 
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company was Room 20-01, 20/F, 
LKF Tower, 33 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong and changed to Unit 06, 12th Floor, The Broadway, No. 
54-62 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong on 8 October 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 
the “Group”) is principally engaged in the footwear and apparel business and the provision of loan facilitation 
services. The principal activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are 
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

In 2020, in view of the Group’s expansion of footwear and apparel business, continuous operations of loan 
facilitation services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and suspension of the overseas markets of 
footwear business, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) reassessed the functional currency of the 
Company and determined that Renminbi (“RMB”) better reflects the economic substance of the Company 
and its business activities as an investment holding company with subsidiaries mainly operating in the PRC. 
Accordingly, the functional currency of the Company was prospectively changed from United States dollars to 
RMB with effective from 1 January 2020. For the convenience of the consolidated financial statements users, 
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s 
financial year beginning 1 January 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, 

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in 
these consolidated financial statements.

　
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) – continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related Amendments3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and the 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 

Presentation of Financial Statements– Classification by the 
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on 
Demand Clause3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction3

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts –Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 20211

Amendment to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material 
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is 
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary 
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Directors have given careful 
consideration of the Group in light of its loss for the year of approximately HK$14,883,000 for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 and net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately 
HK$6,160,000 and HK$6,244,000 respectively. Having considered the completion of placing of new 
shares completed on 17 January 2022, the net proceeds, after deduction of all relevant expenses 
(including but not limited to placing commission, legal expenses and disbursements) is approximately 
HK$10,260,000.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group will be able to continue as a going concern at least in the 
coming twelve months taking into consideration into the completion of placing of new shares.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial 
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of 
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristic of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group has:

• the power over the investee;

• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of these elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins with the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the  
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step approach to recognise revenue:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Revenue recognition when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Revenue from contracts with customers – continued

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct 
or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is 
met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct 
good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties and sales related taxes.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Revenue from contracts with customers – continued

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that 
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in 
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the 
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment 
of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to same contract are accounted for and presented on 
a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:

i. Service income from loan facilitation and credit assessment services

ii. Sales of footwear and apparel

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of footwear and apparel is recognised at the point when the control of the 
goods is transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of product). Under these arrangements, 
the Group manufactures the electronic products in accordance with the customer’s specification and 
under the contract the Group has the right to be paid for work done to date if the customer cancelled 
the contract before the order was fully completed. Revenue from these contracts is therefore recognise 
over time during the manufacturing process, based on input method. i.e. based on the proportion of 
the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Revenue from contracts with customers – continued

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)

The Group provides loan facilitation services which include pre-loan and post-loan facilitation services, 
where the pre-loan and post-loan facilitation services are bundled together.

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction 
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, except for the 
allocation of variable considerations.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct service underlying each performance obligation is 
determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised 
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group 
estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to 
any performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised service to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on 
input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the 
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that 
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or 
services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the amount of consideration 
to which it will be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount, 
depending on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be 
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the 
future when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Revenue from contracts with customers – continued

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including 
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to 
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in 
circumstances during the reporting period.

Refund liabilities

When a contract provides a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period, the 
consideration received from the customer is variable because the contract allows the customer to 
return the products. The Group used the expected value method to estimate the goods that will not 
be returned. For goods expected to be returned, the Group presented a refund liability as “refund 
liabilities” as a separate line item.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines 
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or 
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by 
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is 
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the 
provision of the specified good or service by another party.

Commission income/consultancy income

In respect of insurance brokerage service and consultancy service, the Group does not control the 
specified good or service provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to the 
customer and acts as an agent. The Group recognises commission income or consultancy income 
under “other income” and in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled 
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option) and 
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives 
received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying 
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life 
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Leasing – continued

The Group as a lessee – continued

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and 
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group measures lease liability at the present value of lease 
payments that are not paid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the 
lease payments made.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent 
review, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of 
the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as 
part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) 
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), 
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the 
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s 
presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve 
are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

The change in functional currency of the Company was applied prospectively from the date of change. 
All items were translated into RMB at the exchange rate on that date. The cumulative currency 
translation differences which had arisen from the translation of foreign operations up to the date of 
the change in functional currency will not reclassified from equity to profit or loss until the disposal of 
the relevant operations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses 
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no 
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from the related expenses, 
other government grants are presented under “Other income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before 
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Taxation – continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises 
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax 
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. 
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences 
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial 
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification. 
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Taxation – continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same 
taxable entity by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax liabilities 
assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 
to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are 
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the 
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries and annual 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution plans including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the 
state-managed retirement benefits schemes in the PRC are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for administrative purpose are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Impairment on plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the 
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on 
a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount 
of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion 
of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of 
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a 
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating 
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of 
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss 
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the 
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Impairment on plant and equipment and right-of-use assets – continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit or a group of cash-generated units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit 
or a group of cash-generated units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories sold are 
calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value of inventories represents the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks 
with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
at banks, as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables 
arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments 
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial 
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVTOCI”) and fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses 
(“ECL”), through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to 
the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial 
asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Amortised cost and interest income – continued

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk 
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination 
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial assets (including trade 
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank balances), and contract assets which are subject 
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both 
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
– continued

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these 
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case, the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date 
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking 
information considered includes the future prospects obtained from financial analysts as well 
as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that 
relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
– continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk – continued

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) 
the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet 
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic 
and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability 
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt 
instrument have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ 
in accordance with the globally undertstood definition or if an external rating is not available, 
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a 
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the 
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes 
past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
– continued

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset 
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to 
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
– continued

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two 
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to 
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking 
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is 
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for contract assets are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration 
past due information and relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic 
information.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
– continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL – continued

For collective assessment, the Company takes into consideration the following characteristics 
when formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Respective financial performance and position of debtors;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors;

• Amount of collateral;

• Geographical locations; and

• External credit ratings where available.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that 
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group 
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless 
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on 
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets 
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments – continued

Financial liabilities and equity

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables, amount due to a former director, 
and loan from a former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary) and interest-bearing borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the Directors have 
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue related to pre-loan facilitation services and post-loan facilitation services

The Group considers that the pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation services are considered as the two 
distinct performance obligations to be provided by the Group. Although the Group does not provide these 
services separately and there is no third-party evidence for the selling price for these services either, as public 
information is not available regarding the amount of fees the Group’s competitors charge for these services, 
the Group determined that both performance obligations have standalone value and uses the expected cost 
plus a margin approach to determine its best estimate of selling prices of these service obligations as the 
basis for the allocating the transaction price. When estimating the selling prices, the Group considers the cost 
related to such services, profit margin, customer demand, effect of competition on its services, and other 
market factors, if applicable.

During the year, the Group recognised revenue in respect of pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation 
services amounted to HK$1,484,000 and HK$1,550,000 (2020: HK$9,678,000 and HK$11,773,000), 
respectively.

Variable considerations in relation to pre-loan facilitation services and post loan facilitation services

The Group only includes in the transaction price some or all of an amount of variable considerations to the 
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised 
will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
Management considers the variable considerations in the loan facilitation services being the service fees to be 
refunded to the borrowers due to early loan repayment.

The Group refunds partially service fees to borrowers when they early repay the outstanding loan balance 
before the original maturity date. The refunded service fees due to early repayment are considered as variable 
considerations. Management determines that such variable consideration can be reliably estimated at the 
contract inception. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – continued

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies – continued

Variable considerations in relation to pre-loan facilitation services and post loan facilitation services 
– continued

The expected refund portion of the service fee due to early loan repayment in the loan facilitation service 
transactions are estimated at contract inception based on the expected value method. The expected value of 
this component is the sum of probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible consideration amounts on 
a portfolio basis. The factor that affect the expected value include the estimated rate of early loan repayment. 
The estimated amount of refunds of service fees due to borrowers’ early repayment are deducted from the 
gross transaction price for each loan facilitation service transaction before allocating the remaining portion of 
the transaction price to different performance obligations.

The estimated transaction price is reassessed at each reporting date. Any subsequent changes in the 
transaction price are allocated to the performance obligations in the contract on the same basis as at the 
contract inception. Amounts allocated to a satisfied performance obligation shall be recognised as revenue, or 
as a reduction of revenue, in the period in which the transaction price changes.

Details of the Group’s refund liabilities are set out in Note 30.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in trading of footwear and apparel. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the 
principal for such transactions as it controls the specified good before it is transferred to the customer after 
taking into consideration indicators such as the Group has inventory risk and is primarily responsible for 
fulfilling the promise to provide the goods. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group 
recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as 
specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised revenue relating to trading of footwear and 
apparel of approximately HK$5,577,000 (2020: HK$57,822,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – continued

Allowances recognised in respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group 
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based 
on the number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical experience 
and forward-looking information at the end of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and 
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make additional 
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

For contract assets which are individually insignificant or when the Group does not have reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, 
collective assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s 
trade and other receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Note 37(b).

Estimated impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and 
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect 
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the 
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued 
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts 
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is 
determined at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been 
allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the 
cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2021, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying values of HK$140,000 
and HK$283,000 (2020: HK$306,000 and HK$Nil) respectively. No impairment losses have been recognised 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: right-of-use assets of HK$159,000). Details of the 
impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – continued

Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Directors review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment 
with finite useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the Directors’ estimates of the periods that the Group 
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The residual 
values reflect the Directors’ estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the 
assets, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already of the age and in the 
condition expected at the end of its useful life. The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite 
useful life as at 31 December 2021 are HK$140,000 (2020: HK$306,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories of the Group and makes provision for obsolete and 
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. Management estimates the net 
realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The 
group carries out an inventory review at the end of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete 
and slow-moving items. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of inventories were approximately 
HK$12,156,000 (2020: HK$Nil). No impairment losses was recognised for the year (2020: Nil).

Income tax

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of approximately 
HK$36,452,000 (2020: HK$33,416,000) and deductible temporary difference of approximately HK$152,000 
(2020: HK$152,000) respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the 
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be 
available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a material 
reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which 
such a reversal takes place.
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5. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trading of footwear and apparel
Footwear 2,693 – 2,693
Apparel 2,884 – 2,884

5,577 – 5,577

Provision of loan facilitation services
Pre-loan facilitation services – 1,484 1,484
Post-loan facilitation services – 1,550 1,550

– 3,034 3,034

Provision of credit assessment services – 720 720

Total 5,577 3,754 9,331

Geographical market
The PRC – 3,754 3,754
Hong Kong 2,693 – 2,693
Mexico 2,884 – 2,884

Total 5,577 3,754 9,331

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 5,577 1,484 7,061
Over time – 2,270 2,270

Total 5,577 3,754 9,331



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

83Jimu Group Limited | Annual Report 2021

5. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES – continued

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers – continued

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Types of goods or services
Footwear 50,152 – 50,152
Apparel 7,670 – 7,670

57,822 – 57,822

Provision of loan facilitation services
Pre-loan facilitation services – 9,678 9,678
Post-loan facilitation services – 11,773 11,773

– 21,451 21,451

Provision of credit assessment services – 4,020 4,020

Total 57,822 25,471 83,293

Geographical market
The PRC 57,822 25,471 83,293

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 57,822 13,517 71,339
Over time – 11,954 11,954

Total 57,822 25,471 83,293
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5. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES – continued

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from trading of footwear and apparel

The Group provides footwear and apparel design and development, production management 
(including quality control) and logistics management service and trading of footwear and apparel 
directly to international wholesalers and retailers which are brand owners and/or licensees of formal 
and casual footwear and apparel. All services provided are highly interdependent and interrelated 
that are significantly affected by each other in the production of footwear and apparel and would 
not be performed individually out of the production scope. Therefore, these services provided in the 
production process are not distinct and the whole production process is identified as one performance 
obligation – trading of footwear and apparel. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when control 
of the products has transferred according to respective agreed terms of delivery. Following delivery, 
the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the products, has 
the control when selling the products and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the 
products. The normal credit term is 30 days upon delivery.

Revenue is recognised for sales which are considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront 
deposits range from 50% to 100% of total contract sum. When the Group receives a deposit before 
production commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities which represent the Group’s obligation 
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an 
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Revenue from provision of pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation services

The Group provides pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation services which assist the qualified 
borrowers to obtain financing from various financial institutions or investors who have registered 
with online information intermediary service platforms and earns pre-loan facilitation service fees 
(e.g. business consulting and credit assessment services) and post-loan facilitation service fees (e.g. 
repayment management services).

The pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation services are considered as the two distinct 
performance obligations to be provided by the Group. Since the Group does not provide these services 
separately, and there is no third-party evidence for the selling price for these services, the Group uses 
its best estimate of standalone selling prices of these service obligations as the basis for allocating the 
transaction price.

The transaction price allocated to the pre-loan facilitation services is recognised as revenue upon 
execution of loan agreements between financial institutions or investors and borrowers. When the 
Group provides post-loan facilitation services, the borrowers simultaneously receive and consume 
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance and the transaction price allocated to the post-
loan facilitation services is recognised over the period of the loan on a straight-line basis, which 
approximates the pattern of when the underlying services are performed.
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5. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES – continued

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers – continued

Revenue from provision of pre-loan facilitation and post-loan facilitation services 
– continued

The Group generally collects the service fees either at the inception of the loan or by instalments over 
the period of the loan after the loan is disbursed to the borrowers’ bank accounts. Upon entering 
into a contract with customer, the Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer 
and assumes performance obligations to provide loan facilitation services to the borrowers. The 
combination of those rights and performance give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on 
relationship between the remaining rights and performance obligations. The contract is an asset if 
the measure of the remaining rights exceeds the measure of the remaining performance obligations. 
Contract asset is recognised over the period of the loan in which the loan facilitation services 
are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services performed that is 
conditional on the Group’s future performance of the post-loan facilitation services. The contract 
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, i.e. by the end of 
the loan period. Conversely, the contract is a liability and recognised as contract liability for the portion 
of fees that the Group collected from the borrowers in relation to loan facilitation services that have 
not been performed.

The aggregate amount of the service fees is the gross amount of the service fee under a service 
contract before taking into account the impacts of variable considerations resulting from expected 
amounts of service fees to be refunded to borrowers in the contract period that would be unearned 
from borrowers due to an early repayment of loan. The estimated amounts of variable considerations, 
which are based on expected refunded amount and calculated using the expected value method, 
are deducted from the total transaction price for each service contract before allocating to different 
performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling price. The estimated transaction 
price (including updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is 
constrained) is reassessed at each reporting date.

A refund liability is recognised for the estimated amounts of service fee which was received but is 
expected to be refunded. They represent the amount of consideration received that the Group does 
not expect to be entitled to earn and thus is not included in the transaction price because it will 
be refunded to customers. Any subsequent changes in the transaction price are allocated to the 
performance obligations in the contract on the same basis as at the contract inception. Amounts 
allocated to a satisfied performance obligation shall be recognised as revenue, or as a reduction of 
revenue, in the period in which the transaction price changes. The refund liability is remeasured at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in the estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to revenue 
and contract liabilities.
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5. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES – continued

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers – continued

Revenue from provision of credit assessment services

The Group earns service income by granting of a licence to an automobile sales service shop to provide 
a right to access the Group’s software system for credit assessment service for its automobile sales 
service customers. An up-front fee received in advance for the licence period granted (i.e. 3 years) is 
recognised over time throughout the service period. Monthly service fee charge based on the actual 
data usage from each instance is recognised at a point in time when the relevant service has been 
provided. The normal credit term is 10 days.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for contracts 
with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year – 44 44

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 441 1,511 1,952
More than one year but not more  

than two years – 293 293
More than two years – 109 109

441 1,913 2,354
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, being the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance 
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM 
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable segment under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as 
follows:

• Footwear and apparel businesses – trading of footwear and apparel (2020: design, development, 
production management (including quality control) and logistics management services and trading of 
footwear and apparel); and

• Loan facilitation and credit assessment services – provision of pre-loan facilitation services, post-loan 
facilitation services and credit assessment services.

The above operating divisions constitute the operating and reportable segments of the Group.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 5,577 3,754 9,331

Segment results (4,881) (7,707) (12,588)

Unallocated income 30

Unallocated expenses (5,705)

Loss before tax (18,263)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Segment revenue and results – continued

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation and

credit assessment
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 57,822 25,471 83,293

Segment results 12,020 (13,408) (1,388)

Unallocated income 43
Unallocated expenses (9,150)

Loss before tax (10,495)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current and prior years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 
in Note 3. Segment results represent the profit (loss) before tax of each segment without allocation of certain 
other income, central administration costs, directors’ emoluments and loss on disposal of a subsidiary. This is 
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

Segment assets

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Footwear and apparel businesses 18,720 7,809
Loan facilitation and credit assessment services 2,696 10,376

Total segment assets 21,416 18,185
Unallocated assets

– Bank balances and cash 173 15,368
– Others 22 206

Total assets 21,611 33,759

Segment liabilities

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Footwear and apparel businesses 12,324 5,510
Loan facilitation and credit assessment services 5,551 10,153

Total segment liabilities 17,875 15,663
Unallocated liabilities

– Amount due to a former director – 440
– Other payables and accruals 1,954 2,089
– Interest-bearing borrowings 8,026 –
– Loan from a former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary – 6,998

Total liabilities 27,855 25,190 

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated corporate assets, including 
primarily certain bank balances and cash and other receivables and deposits.

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated corporate liabilities, including 
certain other payables, amount due to a former director, interest-bearing borrowings and loan from a 
former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Footwear and 
apparel 

businesses

Loan facilitation 
and credit 

assessment 
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit 
or loss of segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets (Note) 319 – 319
Depreciation of plant and equipment 142 18 160
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36 – 36
Impairment of trade and other receivables and  

contract assets, net 34 968 1,002
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net – (52) (52)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not 
included in the measure of segment profit or loss 
of segment assets:

Interest expenses 33 391 422
Income tax credit (2,112) (1,268) (3,380)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Footwear and 
apparel 

businesses

Loan facilitation 
and credit 

assessment 
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit 
or loss of segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets (Note) – 240 240
Depreciation of plant and equipment 195 190 385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets – 747 747
(Reversal of) impairment of trade and other receivables 

and contract assets, net (3) 581 578
Impairment loss recognised on right-of-use assets – 159 159
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment, net 47 31 78

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not 
included in the measure of segment profit or loss 
of segment assets:

Interest expenses – 368 368
Income tax expenses (credit) 2,517 (4,307) (1,790)

Note: Non-current assets included plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the locations of the 
shipment destinations, irrespective of the origin of the goods, or the location of the loan facilitated or credit 
assessed as detailed below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

The PRC 3,754 83,293
Hong Kong 2,693 –
Mexico 2,884 –

9,331 83,293
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the geographical location of the 
assets:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 377 237
The PRC 78 160

455 397

Non-current assets excluded rental deposits.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A1 N/A2 32,306
Customer B1 N/A2 25,516
Customer C1 2,693 N/A2

Customer D1 2,884 N/A2

1 Revenue from trading of footwear and apparel.

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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7A. OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Commission income (Note a) – 33
Consultancy income (Note a) 901 5,498
Government grant (Note b) – 477
Interest income 72 305
Miscellaneous income 281 91

1,254 6,404 

Notes:

(a) The Group provides insurance brokerage referral service or consultancy services to financial institutions in the capacity of an agent. 

Consultancy income and commission income are recognised according to respective agreed terms when the relevant service is 

provided and the relevant transaction has been entered between the ultimate individual customer and the financial institutions. The 

normal credit term granted to the customers is ranging from 1 to 30 days (2020: 1 to 30 days).

(b) The government grant represented financial supports granted by the local government in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies. 

There were no specific conditions attached to the grant and the amounts were recognised in profit or loss when the grant was 

received.

7B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Gain on termination of lease liabilities, net 422 2,586
Impairment loss recognised on right-of-use assets – (159)
Net foreign exchange losses (57) (105)
Gain (loss) on disposal of plant and equipment, net 52 (78)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 31) (41) –

376 2,244
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8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF 
REVERSAL

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Impairment losses (recognised) reversed on:
– Trade receivables (34) (6)
– Contract assets (878) 502
– Other receivables (90) 82

(1,002) 578

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37(b).

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 800 2,150
Bank charges 30 40
Depreciation of plant and equipment 160 385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36 747
Entertainment expenses 22 116
Expenses relating to short term leases 483 1,566
Marketing and promotion expenses 2,020 1,270
Other taxes 37 339
Outsourcing expenses – 1,330
Professional fees 3,558 6,624
Travelling cost 246 584
Utilities 41 491
Others 1,840 1,608

9,273 17,250

10. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests on other borrowings 40 –
Interests on lease liabilities 384 368

424 368
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)
– Current tax – 2,518

Over-provision in prior years (2,112) –
Deferred tax (Note 32) (1,268) (4,308)

(3,380) (1,790)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first 
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million 
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime 
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 
million. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the 
Group had no assessable profit for the both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax 
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. No provision for PRC EIT has been made in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 as the subsidiaries in the PRC have no taxable profit.
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT – continued

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (18,263) (10,495)

Tax at the applicable domestic income tax rate (Note) (3,958) (1,861)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,233 1,377
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (132) (1,145)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 589 1,554
Income tax at concessionary rate – (1,679)
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences  

previously not recognised – (36)
Over-provision in prior years (2,112) –

Income tax credit for the year (3,380) (1,790)

Note: The amounts represented the combined effect of the group entities basing on actual tax rates applicable for each jurisdiction where 

the relevant group entities operate.

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 13) 1,564 1,590
Other staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration):

– Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 10,725 34,587
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,047 4,577
– Termination benefits – 2,436

Total staff costs (Note) 13,336 43,190

Auditor’s remuneration 800 2,150
Depreciation of plant and equipment 160 385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36 747
Expenses relating to short term leases 483 1,566

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2021, Covid-19 related government grants/assistance amounted to HK$Nil (2020: HK$162,000) 

have been offset against employee benefits expense.
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing 
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Name of director Fee

Salaries 
allowances 

and other 
benefits

Employer’s 
contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2021
Executive directors
Mr. Dong Jun (Chairman) – – – –
Mr. Huang Zexiong (Chief executive) – 435 – 435
Mr. Chen Chao (resigned on 3 May 2021) – 145 – 145
Mr. Chen Zuze – – – –
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho  

(resigned on 14 November 2021) – 171 – 171
Ms. Wei Ju  

(appointment on 14 November 2021) – 78 – 78

Sub-total – 829 – 829

Non-executive directors
Mr. Lau Kai Pong (resigned on 25 May 2021) –
Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek  

(resigned on 30 June 2021) 114 – – 114
Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-ming  

(resigned on 26 November 2021) – – – –
Mr. Shum Tsz Yeung  

(appointment on 14 November 2021) 78 – – 78

Sub-total 192 – – 192

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Chen Xin (resigned on 3 May 2021) 82 – – 82
Mr. Guo Zhongyong  

(resigend on 25 May 2021) 96 – – 96
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence  

(resiged on 25 May 2021) 96 – – 96
Mr. Ni Zhixing  

(resigned on 14 November 2021) 52 – – 52
Mr. Eric Todd (resigned on 12 February 2022) 108 – – 108
Mr. Lam Wai Hung  

(resigned on 14 January 2022) 108 – – 108
Mr. Hung Wai Che  

(appointment on 30 December 2021) 1 – – 1

Sub-total 543 – – 543

Total 735 829 – 1,564
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
– continued

(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments – continued

Name of director Fee

Salaries,
allowances
and other

benefits

Retirement
benefit
scheme

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Executive directors
Mr. Dong Jun (Chairman) – – – –
Mr. Huang Zexiong (Chief executive)  

(appointed on 5 June 2020) – 35 – 35
Mr. Ho Kin Wai (Chief executive)  

(resigned on 18 September 2020) – – – –
Mr. Chen Zuze  

(appointed on 18 September 2020) – – – –
Mr. Chen Chao  

(appointed on 18 September 2020) – 119 – 119
Mr. Peng Shaoxin  

(resigned on 18 September 2020) – 388 23 411
Mr. Yan Taotao  

(resigned on 5 June 2020) – 231 5 236

Sub-total – 773 28 801

Non-executive directors
Mr. Lau Kai Pong – – – –
Mr. Wen Cyrus Jun-Ming – – – –
Mr. Chan Kwun Wah Derek  

(appointed on 8 October 2020) 55 – – 55

Sub-total 55 – – 55

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Guo Zhongyong 240 – – 240
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence 240 – – 240
Mr. Ni Zhixing  

(appointed on 8 October 2020) 14 – – 14
Ms. Chen Xin  

(appointed on 23 November 2020) 25 – – 25
Mr. Li Tixin  

(resigned on 23 November 2020) 215 – – 215

Sub-total 734 – – 734

Total 789 773 28 1,590
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
– continued

(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments – continued

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their service in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company and the Group.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement for joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

No director nor the chief executive waived any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.

(b) Employees’ emoluments – five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 include one 
director (2020: Nil), details of whose emoluments are set out above. Details of the emoluments of the 
remaining four (2020: five) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of 
the Company were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,375 2,100
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 22 204
Compensation for loss of office – 567

1,397 2,871

The emoluments of the remaining four (2020: five) highest paid individuals who are neither a director 
nor chief executive of the Company were within the following bands:

Number of employees

2021 2020

Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 5
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14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend 
been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the following data:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss:
Loss for the year for the purpose of basic loss per share (14,883) (8,705)

2021 2020
’000 ’000

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  

the purpose of basic loss per share 501,600 483,718

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
basic loss per share has been adjusted for the share placing in October 2020 (details are disclosed in Note 33).

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is presented as there were no 
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
improvement

Motor
vehicles

Furniture
and office

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2020 1,363 1,677 847 3,887
Additions – – 26 26
Disposals (32) – (294) (326)
Exchange realignment 86 – 37 123

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1,417 1,677 616 3,710
Disposals – – (13) (13)
Exchange realignment 42 – 17 59

At 31 December 2021 1,459 1,677 620 3,756

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2020 1,189 1,304 663 3,156
Provided for the year 181 140 64 385
Eliminated on disposals (32) – (216) (248)
Exchange realignment 79 – 32 111

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1,417 1,444 543 3,404
Provided for the year – 140 20 160
Eliminated on disposals – – (5) (5)
Exchange realignment 42 – 15 57

At 31 December 2021 1,459 1,584 573 3,616

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2021 – 93 47 140

At 31 December 2020 – 233 73 306
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – continued

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated residual 
values, on a straight-line basis as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the relevant lease or 5 years
Motor vehicles 20% per annum
Furniture and office equipment 10-50% per annum

Impairment assessment for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

As a result of the impact to the current economic environment related of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Group is experiencing decline in financial performance including branch premises closures of loan facilitation 
business and decreased in loan facilitation transactions during the year. For the year ended 2021, the 
management of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment and conducted impairment 
assessment on recoverable amounts of certain branch premises assets of loan facilitation segment which 
represented plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of Nil and Nil (2020: 
HK$73,000 and HK$164,000) respectively. The Group regards each individual branch premise as a separately 
identifiable cash-generating unit. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of each several branch 
premises to which the assets belong as it is not possible to estimate their recoverable amount individually.

The recoverable amount of each branch premises have been determined based on a value in use calculation. 
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management of the 
Group covering the remaining tenure of the lease within 5 years as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 
2020: within 5 years), and a discount rate of 10% (31 December 2020: 12%). Key assumptions for the value 
in use calculations related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include gross budgeted loan facilitation 
service revenue and gross margin with a zero growth rate. Such estimation was based on the management’s 
expectations for the market development as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined that the recoverable amounts 
of several branch premises are lower than the carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated 
to each category of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets such that the carrying amount of each 
category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and 
zero. Based on the value in use calculation and the allocation, impairment losses have been recognised 
against the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets of HK$Nil in 2021 (2020: HK$159,000) while no 
impairment loss have been recognised against the carrying amounts of plant and equipment for both years.
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Office 
premises 

Branch 
premises Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2021
Carrying amounts 283 – 283

As at 31 December 2020
Carrying amounts – – –

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Depreciation charge 36 – 36

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Depreciation charge 387 360 747
Impairment loss recognised  

in profit or loss – 159 159

387 519 906

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Gain on termination of lease liabilities, net 422 2,586

Expense relating to short-term leases 483 1,566

Total cash outflow for leases 1,128 5,014

Additions to right-of-use assets 319 214

For both years, the Group leases office premises and branch premises for its operations. Lease contracts are 
entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 2 years (2020: 6 months to 5 years). Lease terms are negotiated on 
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term 
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and 
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and branches premises. As at 31 
December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to 
which the short term lease expense disclosed above.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 16.
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18. INVENTORIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Merchandise of footwear for resale 12,156 –

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from contracts with customers 3,028 883
Less: allowance for credit losses (42) (6)

2,986 877

As at 31 December 2021, the gross amount of trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to 
HK$3,028,000 (2020: HK$883,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on 
the invoice dates:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days – 877
Over 90 days 2,986 –

2,986 877

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in Note 37(b).
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables, net of allowances (Note a) 379 1,356
Prepayments 304 790
Rental deposits 266 1,028
Other deposits 61 165

1,010 3,339
Less: Rental deposits shown under non-current assets (144) (76)

866 3,263

Note:

(a) As at 31 December 2020, other receivables mainly include loan facilitation service fee receivables which the Group was entitled to 

but are held by the Online Intermediary Payment Channel (the ‘’Online Channel”) on behalf of the Group. The amount had been 

subsequently fully settled.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out in Note 37(b).

21. CONTRACT ASSETS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loan facilitation services, net of allowances 1,551 2,406

Current 1,519 2,315
Non-current 32 91

1,551 2,406

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for loan facilitation services completed 
and not billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The contract assets are 
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of the contract assets recognised are set out in Note 5(ii).

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in Note 37(b).
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22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.35% (2020: 0.01% to 
0.35%) per annum.

Details of bank balances denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group 
entities and impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in Note 37(b).

23. TRADE PAYABLES

The credit period on purchase of goods varies from 20 days to 45 days. The ageing analysis of the trade 
payables presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 6,101 –
31 to 60 days 2,738 –
Over 90 days 953 953

9,792 953

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued staff salaries 2,653 3,246
Accrued expenses 2,116 2,363
Other tax payables 1,380 1,964
Others 1,664 933 

7,813 8,506
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other borrowing 8,026 –

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements):

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 8,026 –

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s 
borrowings are as follows:

2021 2020

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 8% –

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a new loan amount of HK$8,000,000 was obtained from an 
independent third party (“Other Loan”). Other Loan is unsecured, bearing interest at 8% per annum and 
repayable after six months from the date of drawdown or on demand.

26. AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER DIRECTOR

The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. During the year ended 31 December 
2020, pursuant to the deed of waiver agreement entered into between the former director/director, who 
was resigned on 18 September 2020 and is also one of the major shareholders of the Company, and Ever 
Smart International Enterprise Limited, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, of which an amount of 
HK$5,017,000 was waived and recognised as deemed capital contribution. The entire remaining balance of 
HK$440,000 had been settled in January 2021.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

108 Jimu Group Limited | Annual Report 2021

27. LOAN FROM A FORMER FELLOW SUBSIDIARY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

In April 2020, 通泉財富（寧夏）科技有限公司 (‘’通泉財富”), a subsidiary of the former ultimate holding 
company (2020: the ultimate holding company), has provided a loan of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$44,224,000) which is unsecured, interest free and repayable on April 2022. The entire 
amount had been settled during the year ended 31 December 2020.

In December 2020, 通泉財富 has provided a loan of RMB5,890,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$6,998,000). The amount was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and repayable at maturity of 
36 months since the draw down date. The entire amount had been settled in January 2021.

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 789 675
Within a period of more than one year  

but not more than two years 486 440
Within a period of more than two years  

but not more than five years – 485

1,275 1,600
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months  

shown under current liabilities (789) (675)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months  
shown under non-current liabilities 486 925
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s contract liabilities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Footwear and apparel businesses 441 441
Loan facilitation services 308 656
Credit assessment services – 710

749 1,807

Current 746 1,389
Non-current 3 418

749 1,807 

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are 
classified as current and non-current based on the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to 
the customers. The significant decrease (2020: decrease) in the current year is the result of the decrease in 
loan facilitation transactions entered during the year.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities 
and how much relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation
and credit

assessment
services

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract  

liability balance at the beginning of the year – 1,058

Footwear
and apparel

businesses

Loan
facilitation
and credit

assessment
services

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract  

liability balance at the beginning of the year – 7,378

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised are set out in Note 5(ii).
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30. REFUND LIABILITIES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s refund liabilities:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Refund liabilities arising from refund of loan facilitation  
service fees due to early repayment 6 1,546 

Current 6 1,540
Non-current – 6

6 1,546

Details of the refund liabilities are stated in Note 5(ii).

31. LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 11 October 2021, the Group disposed 100% of the entire share capital of Trade Expert Holdings Limited 
(“TEHL”) which was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at consideration of HK$1, to an 
independent third party. The net assets of TEHL at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Consideration:
Other receivables –*

HK$’000

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

Trade receivables 59
Other payables and accruals (4)
Amount due to directors (14)

Net assets disposed of a subsidiary 41
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31. LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY – continued

HK$’000

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary:

Consideration receivable –*
Net assets disposed of a subsidiary (41)

(41)

The disposal did not constitute a discontinued operation as it did not represent a major line of business or 
geographical area of operation.

* Less than HK$500

32. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during the 
current and prior years:

Tax
losses

Timing
differences
on revenue
recognition

Refund
liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note)

At 1 January 2020 (9,270) 17,931 (3,210) 5,451
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 9,429 (16,755) 3,018 (4,308)
Exchange realignment (487) 977 (195) 295

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 (328) 2,153 (387) 1,438
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 44 (1,703) 391 (1,268)
Exchange realignment (10) 40 (6) 24

At 31 December 2021 (294) 490 (2) 194

Note: The amount represented the timing differences between the revenue recognised and the collection of service fees from loan 

facilitation services.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned 
by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been 
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary difference attributable to the 
retained profits earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to approximately HK$11,852,000 as at 31 
December 2021 (2020: HK$16,300,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.
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32. DEFERRED TAX – continued

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$37,628,000 (2020: 
HK$34,728,000) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect 
of HK$1,176,000 (2020: HK$1,312,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect 
of the remaining HK$36,452,000 (2020: HK$33,416,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 

Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$20,429,000 (2020: HK$13,273,000) that will expire as 
follows. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

2023 585 585
2024 6,601 6,601
2025 6,087 6,087
2026 1,024 –

14,297 13,273

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately 
HK$158,000 (2020: HK$1,698,000). A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$6,000 
(2020: HK$1,546,000) of such deductible temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 
in respect of remaining HK$152,000 (2020: HK$152,000) as it is not probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible timing differences can be utilised.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares

Share
capital

HK$’000

Authorised ordinary shares at HK$0.01 per share:
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021  

and 31 December 2021 1,000,000,000 10,000

Issued and fully paid shares at HK$0.01 per share:
At 1 January 2020 480,000,000 4,800
Placement of new shares on 30 October 2020 (Note) 21,600,000 216

At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 501,600,000 5,016

Note: On 14 October 2020, the Company and a placing agent entered into a placing agreement pursuant to which the Company has 

conditionally agreed to place a maximum of 22,200,000 placing shares to independent investors at a price of HK$0.438 per share. 

The placing was completed on 30 October 2020 pursuant to which the Company has allotted and issued 21,600,000 placing 

shares. The net proceeds derived from the placing amounted to approximately HK$9,083,000 and resulted in the increase in share 

capital of HK$216,000 and share premium of approximately HK$9,245,000, net of transaction costs of approximately HK$378,000.
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all qualified employees in 
Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of 
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 
a rate of 5% specified in the rules, but subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited 
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated 
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their basic 
payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect 
to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes. No forfeited 
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total contribution charged to profit or loss amounted to 
HK$1,047,000 (2020: HK$4,605,000).

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Most of the Group’s loan facilitation business is relating to provision of pre-loan facilitation services and post-
loan facilitation services to external individual customers (“Ultimate Customers”) to obtain financing from 
various financial institutions or investors through the Online Platform and Online Channel. Substantially all of 
the abovementioned business is deriving from Ultimate Customers obtaining the financing from the financial 
institutions or investors who have registered on the Online Platform operated by a related party of the 
Company.

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had entered into the 
following significant transactions with related parties during the reporting periods:

(i) In April 2020, a subsidiary of the ultimate holding company, has provided a loan of RMB40,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$44,224,000) which is unsecured, interest free and repayable on April 
2022. The entire amount has been early settled in 2020.

(ii) In December 2020, a subsidiary of the ultimate holding company, has provided a loan of 
RMB5,890,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,998,000). For the details please refer to Note 27.
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES – continued

(ii) During the current year, the Group also provides loan facilitation services to Ultimate Customers to 
obtain financing from a related party of the Company:

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision of loan facilitation services 1,361 1,114

Compensation of the directors and other key management personnel

The key management of the Group comprises all executive directors of the Company, details of their 
emoluments are disclosed in Note 13. The emoluments of the executive directors of the Company are decided 
by the remuneration committee of the Company having regard to individual’s performance, the Group’s 
performance and profitability, remuneration benchmark in the industry and prevailing market condition.

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, debts including interest-bearing 
borrowings, amount due to a former director and loan from a former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary, and 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost and 
the risks associates with each class of the capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors, the Group 
will balance its overall capital structure through the payments of dividends and new share issues as well as 
issue of new debt or redemption of existing debts.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Amortised cost 7,177 30,257

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 24,257 16,479

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, bank 
balances and cash, trade payables, other payables, lease liabilities, amount due to a former director 
and loan from a former fellow subsidiary/fellow subsidiary. Details of these financial instruments are 
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market 
risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Certain other payables are denominated in foreign currency of the respective group entities 
which are exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will 
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities at the end of 
each reporting period are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Liability
RMB 47 46
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Market risk – continued

(i) Currency risk – continued

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of HK$ against RMB.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the exposure of foreign currency risk on the RMB 
denominated monetary liabilities is insignificant on the ground that the carrying amounts are 
insignificant. Hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding HK$ denominated monetary assets as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period 
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis below details the Group’s 
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against HK$. 5% represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number 
below indicates an increase in post-tax loss and other equity where RMB strengthen 5% 
against HK$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on the profit and other comprehensive income and the amounts below would be 
negative.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had been strengthen/weaken 5% against HK$ and all other 
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$10,000 (2020: HK$338,000).

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate other borrowings. The 
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy in relation to fair value interest 
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

However, management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure on an ongoing basis and 
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group’s 
exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this 
note.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank 
balances (see Note 22). The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. 
However, the management will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the 
need arises.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Market risk – continued

(ii) Interest rate risk – continued

Interest income from financial assets that are measured at amortised cost is as follows: 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at amortised cost 72 305

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
section of this note.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to 
trade receivables, other receivables, contract assets and bank balances. The Group does not hold any 
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100% (2020: 99%) of the total trade receivables was 
due from the Group’s largest customer. The Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five largest 
customers accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of the total trade receivables. In order to minimise 
the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of 
credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances 
individually. The contract assets are assessed on a collective basis, based on shared credit risk 
characteristics. Impairment of HK$878,000 (2020: reversal of impairment of HK$502,000) is 
recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by 
reference to information relating to probability of default and loss given default of the respective credit 
rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Directors make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of 
other receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. The Directors believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk 
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. 
Impairment of HK$90,000 (2020: reversal of impairment loss of HK$82,000) is recognised during the 
year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description

Trade receivables/
contract assets*

Other
financial assets

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired

12m ECL

Moderate risk Debtor has a moderate level of credit risk at  
the inception of the loan and expect to  
settle in full

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired

12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in  
credit risk since initial recognition through 
information developed internally or external 
resources

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired

Loss  There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL –  
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –  
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  
in severe financial difficulty and the Group  
has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off

*　Further sub-grouping applied for contract assets as detailed in note (3) below
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets,
which are subject to ECL assessment:

Notes

External 
credit 
rating

Internal 
credit rating

12m or 
lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
amounts

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets  
at amortised cost

Trade receivables (Note 1) 19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 2,986 877

Loss
Lifetime ECL  

– Credit impaired 42 6

3,028 883

Other receivables  
and deposits (Note 2)

20 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 795 1,784

Contract assets (Note 3) 21 N/A Tier 1: Lifetime ECL 994 1,400
Low risk

Tier 2: Lifetime ECL 308 806
Low risk

Tier 3: Lifetime ECL 1,277 346
Moderate risk

2,579 2,552
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

Notes:

(1) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 

ECL. 

Debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired with gross carrying amount of HK$2,986,000 (2020: 

HK$877,000) and HK$42,000 (2020: HK$6,000), respectively, as at 31 December 2021 were assessed individually.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and 

are adjusted for forward-looking macroeconomic information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As at 31 December 2021, The weighted average loss rates for the significant oustanding balances are approximate to zero 

for both years while 100% for the credit-impaired balances. No impairment allowance on trade receivables are provided 

based on individual assessment as the amounts involved are immaterial. Impairment allowance of HK$42,000 (2020: 

HK$6,000) were made on credit-impaired debtors.

(2) Included in other receivables and deposits are amounts mainly representing loan facilitation service fee receivables 

which the Group is entitled to but are held by the Online Channel on behalf of the Group. The Group assessed the loss 

allowance for these other receivables on 12m ECL basis.

In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical default experience and forward-looking 

macroeconomic information as appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment of HK$90,000 is recognised on the receivable from a service 

provider (2020: reversal of impairment of HK$82,000). For the remaining other receivable balances, the Group has 

considered the consistently low historical default rate in connection with payments and concluded that credit risk inherent 

in these balances is insignificant.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

121Jimu Group Limited | Annual Report 2021

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

Notes: – continued

(3) For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 

ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal credit rating for 

loan facilitation services.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation to 

loan facilitation service segment as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The following table provides information about 

the exposure to credit risk for contract assets which are assessed based on collective assessment within lifetime ECL (not 

credit-impaired).

Gross carrying amount

2021 2020

Weighted

average

loss rate

Contract 

assets 

Weighted

average

loss rate

Contract 

assets 

HK$’000 HK$’000

Internal credit rating

Tier 1: Low risk 0.9% 994 2.7% 1,400

Tier 2: Low risk 31.4% 308 7.5% 806

Tier 3: Moderate risk 61.7% 1,277 14.7% 346

2,579 2,552

At the inception of the loan, the management determines the tier of each customers by considering respective financial 

performance and positions, amount of collateral and geographical locations etc.. The estimated loss rates are estimated 

based on weighted average historical observed default rates over the expected life of the contract assets among different 

products and are adjusted for forward-looking macroeconomic information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised a reversal of HK$1,391,000 (2020: reversal of 

HK$502,000) impairment allowance for contract assets, based on collective assessment.

No debtors with significant outstanding balances or assessed as credit-impaired as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

The following tables show the reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for trade 
receivables, contract assets and other receivables.

Trade receivables

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 1,447
Write-offs (1,450)
Impairment losses recognised 6
Exchange realignment 3

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 6
Impairment losses recognised 34
Exchange realignment 2

As at 31 December 2021 42

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables 
are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

Other receivables

12m ECL
HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 81
Impairment losses reversed (82)
Exchange realignment 1

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 –
Impairment losses recognised 90
Exchange realignment (1)

As at 31 December 2021 89
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – continued

Contract assets

Lifetime ECL
(non credit-

impaired)
HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 624
Impairment losses reversed (502)
Exchange realignment 24

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 146
Impairment losses recognised 878
Exchange realignment 4

As at 31 December 2021 1,028
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains levels of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition, the Group subsequently entered into a placing 
agreement with a net proceeds of approximately HK$10,260,000 details referred to note 42.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity tables

Weighted

average

effective

interest rate

Repayable

on demand

or less than

1 month

1 – 3

months

4 months

to 1 year 1 – 5 years

Total

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount at

31 December

2021

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2021

Trade payables N/A 9,792 – – – 9,792 9,792

Other payables N/A 1,664 – – – 1,664 1,664

Interest-bearing borrowings 8.00% 8,026 – – – 8,026 8,026

19,482 – – – 19,482 19,482

Lease liabilities 8.17% 75 166 545 602 1,388 1,275

Weighted

average

effective

interest rate

Repayable

on demand

or less than

1 month

1 – 3

months

4 months

to 1 year 1 – 5 years

Total

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount at

31 December

2020

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2020

Trade payables N/A 953 – – – 953 953

Other payables N/A 933 – – – 933 933

Amount due to a former director/director N/A 440 – – – 440 440

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary 5.00% – – – 8,048 8,048 6,998

2,326 – – 8,048 10,374 9,324

Lease liabilities 8.00% 57 15 679 1,030 1,781 1,600
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with general 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or 
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

Interest-bearing
borrowings

Loan from 
a fellow 

subsidiary

Amount due 
to a former 

director
Lease 

liabilities Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 – – 6,350 8,802 15,152
Financing cash flows – 6,998 (893) (3,448) 2,657
New leases entered – – – 188 188
Termination of lease liabilities – – – (4,567) (4,567)
Exchange realignment – – – 257 257
Interest expenses – – – 368 368
Deemed contribution from  

a former director – – (5,017) – (5,017)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 – 6,998 440 1,600 9,038
Financing cash flows 8,000 (7,012) (440) (645) (97)
New leases entered – – – 319 319
Termination of lease liabilities – – – (422) (422)
Exchange realignment – – – 39 39
Interest expenses 26 14 – 384 424

At 31 December 2021 8,026 – – 1,275 9,301
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39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of office premises for two 
years (2020: one to three years). On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HK$319,000 (2020: 
HK$214,000) of right-of-use assets and HK$79,000 (2020: HK$188,000) lease liability.

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company adopted a share option scheme at the annual general meeting on 11 May
2016 (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”). No share option has been granted under the 2016 Share Option 
Scheme since its adoption.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be determined and notified by the directors 
to the grantee but may not be exercised after the expiry of ten years from the date of offer of that opinion. 
Option is immediately vested at the date of grant and a consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance 
of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal value 
of the share on the date of offer, the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer; and the 
average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

No share option was granted or exercised for both years.
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

establishment

Place of 

operation

Issued and fully paid 

share capital/registered capital

Equity interest attributable 

to the Group

As of 31 December Principal activities

2021 2020 2021 2020

% %

Indirectly held subsidiaries

Ever Smart International  

Enterprise Limited  

永駿國際企業有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 HK$1 100 100 Design, development, 

sourcing, marketing  

and sale of footwear

Jimu Group Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 HK$1 100 100 Design, development, 

sourcing, marketing  

and sale of footwear

立鼎萊博（北京）科技有限公司# The PRC The PRC USD10,000,000 USD10,000,000 100 100 Loan facilitation business

積木時代（天津）商務信息諮詢有限公司# The PRC The PRC RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100 100 Loan facilitation business

四川積木美行商務信息諮詢有限公司# The PRC The PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Loan facilitation business

斯德伯（寧夏）科技有限公司# The PRC The PRC USD1,000,000 USD1,000,000 100 100 Design, development, 

sourcing, marketing  

and sale of footwear

格銳德（銀川）企業管理咨詢有限公司# The PRC The PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Provision of consultancy 

service

# Limited liability company established in the PRC

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their respective places of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected 
the results or net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the 
year.

42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. Placing shares under general mandate

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Silverbricks Securities Company 
Limited (“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed to place up to 100,320,000 
placing shares (“Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$0.107 per Placing Share, to not less than 
six persons or entities procured by the Placing Agent or its agents to subscribe for any Placing Shares, 
who and whose respective ultimate beneficial owners shall be independent third parties.

The placing was completed on 17 January 2022. The net proceeds, after deduction of all relevant 
expenses (including but not limited to placing commission, legal expenses and disbursements) is 
amounted to approximately HK$10,260,000.
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42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD – continued

2. Share Subscription Agreement of Stay Fresh Footwear Inc. (the “SSA of Stay Fresh”) 

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 January 2022, the Company entered into the 
share subscription agreement pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to the possible 
subscription of 7% equity interest in Stay Fresh, at the consideration of HK$1,050,000.

As at the date of this report, the possible subscription had not been completed. Further 
announcements will be made by the Company in respect of the SSA of Stay Fresh when appropriate. 
Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 19 January 2022 and 20 
February 2022.

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
Investment in subsidiaries – –

Current asset
Bank balances 173 8,092

173 8,092

Current liabilities
Other payables 1,955 2,525
Interest-bearing borrowings 8,026 –

9,981 2,525

Net current (liabilities) assets (9,808) 5,567

Capital and reserves
Share capital 5,016 5,016
Reserves and accumulated losses (Note) (14,824) 551

(Capital deficiency) total equity (9,808) 5,567

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

WEI JU SHUM TSZ YEUNG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
– continued

Note: The movements in the reserves of the Company are as follows:

Share 

premium

Special 

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses

Total 

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2020 46,917 11,540 – (56,579) 1,878

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – (10,299) (10,299)

Exchange differences on translation  

from functional currency to  

presentation currency – – 105 – 105

Total comprehensive income (expense)  

for the year – – 105 (10,299) (10,194)

Placing of new shares 9,245 – – – 9,245

Transaction costs attributable to  

placing of new shares (378) – – – (378)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 55,784 11,540 105 (66,878) 551

Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – (15,445) (15,445)

Exchange differences on translation  

from functional currency to  

presentation currency – – 70 – 70

At 31 December 2021 55,784 11,540 175 (82,323) (14,824)

Note: The special reserve of the Company comprises deemed contributions from the sole shareholder and premium arisen from 

the Group’s reorganisation in 2015.
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The summary of the consolidated results of Jimu Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to the “Group”) for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the consolidated 
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are set out in the audited 
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 9,331 83,293 110,173 219,353 236,732

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (18,263) (10,495) (33,495) 1,874 (8,824)

Income tax credit (expenses) 3,380 1,790 150 (5,865) (185)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (14,883) (8,705) (33,345) (3,991) (9,009)

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company (14,883) (8,705) (33,345) (3,991) (9,009)
Non-controlling interests – – – – –

(14,883) (8,705) (33,345) (3,991) (9,009)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS 21,611 33,759 58,466 113,673 119,249
TOTAL LIABILITIES (27,855) (25,190) (55,617) (73,129) (74,379)

(6,244) 8,569 2,849 40,544 44,870

EQUITY:
Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company (6,244) 8,569 2,849 40,544 44,870
Non-controlling interests – – – – –

(6,244) 8,569 2,849 40,544 44,870

　
FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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